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accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable 1o the Group (see Note 2). In the event of a
discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

AUDITORS' REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Shareholders of
ACCIONA, S.A.:

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Acciona, S.A. (the Parent} and Subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012 and the related consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
then ended. As indicated in Note 2.1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Parent’s
directors are responsible for the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and the other provisions
of the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole based on our audit work performed in
accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain, which require examination, by means of selective
tests, of the evidence supporting the consolidated financial statements and evaluation of whether their
presentation, the accounting principles and policies applied and the estimates made comply with the
applicable regulatory financial reporting framework.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements for 2012 present fairty, in all material
respects, the conselidated equity and consolidated financial position of Acciona, S.A. and Subsidiaries at 31
December 2012, and the consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union and the other provisions of the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group.

The accompanying consolidated directors’ report for 2012 contains the explanations which the directors of
Acciona, S.A. consider appropriate about the Group’s situation, the evolution of its business and other
matters, but is not an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. We have checked that the
accounting information in the consolidated directors' report is consistent with that contained in the
consolidated financial statements for 2012. Our work as auditors was confined to checking the consolidated
directors’ report with the aforementioned scope, and did not include a review of any information other than
that drawn from the accounting records of Acciona, S.A. and Subsidiaries.

DELOITTE, S.L.
Registered in ROAC under no. S0692

28 February 2013
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012 OF ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Consolidated Group)

1.- Group activities

Acciona, S.A. (“the Parent” or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries compose the Acciona Group
(“Acciona” or “the Group”). Acciona, S.A.'s registered office and headquarters are in Alcobendas
(Madrid), at Av. Europa, 18.

The Acciona Group companies operate in several sectors of economic activity, including most
notably:

- Acciona Infrastructure: including mainly construction and engineering activities and transport and
hospital concessions.

- Acciona Real Estate: property portfolio and development and operation of car parks.

- Acciona Energy: including the various industrial and commercial activities of the electricity
business, ranging from the construction of wind farms to the generation, distribution and retailing
of various energy sources.

- Accitona Logistics and Transport Services: this division is an integral provider of passenger and
cargo transportation services (land, sea and air).

- Acciona Urban and Environmental Services; carries on activities relating to urban services and
environmental protection, and also performs all kinds of activities, work and services, specific or
related to the water cycle.

- Other Businesses: businesses relating to fund management and stock market brokerage, wine
production and other investments.

Note 28 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements “Segment Reporting” includes detailed

information relating to the assets, liabilities and transactions carried out in each of the above business
divisions that compose the Acciona Group.
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2. Basis of presentation of the consolidated financial statements and basis of consolidation

2.1 Basis of presentation and regulatory framework for the Energy division

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements for 2012 of the Acciona Group were prepared by the directors of
Acciona, S.A. at the Board of Directors Meeting held on 28 February 2013, and present fairly the
Group's consolidated equity and consolidated financial position at 31 December 2012, and the
consolidated results of its operations, the changes in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the changes in the consolidated equity and the consolidated cash flows in the year then ended.

These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the Group and, in particular, with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, in conformity with Regulation (EC) no.
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council. The main mandatory accounting principles
and measurement bases applied, the alternative treatments permitted by the relevant legislation in this
connection and the standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force at the date of formal
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are summarised in Note 3.

These consolidated financial statements were prepared on the basis of the accounting records kept by
the Parent and by the other Group companies. These records include the figures relating to the joint
ventures, groupings and consortia in which the Group companies have interests, which are
proportionately consolidated through the inclusion in the consolidated financial statements of the
proportion of the assets, liabilities and transactions of these entities relating to the Group's percentage
of ownership, after the appropriate eliminations of asset and liability balances and intra-Group
transactions in the year.

The Acciona Group's consolidated financial statements for 2011 were approved by the shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting on 24 May 2012. The consolidated financial statements for 2012 of the
Acciona Group and the separate financial statements for 2012 of the companies composing the Group
have not yet been approved by the shareholders at the respective Annual General Meetings. However,
the Parent's Board of Directors considers that the aforementioned financial statements will be
approved without any material changes.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euros (unless otherwise
indicated) because the euro is the functional currency of the principal economic area in which the
Acciona Group operates. Foreign operations are accounted for in accordance with the policies
established in Notes 2 2-g and 3.2-q.
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Regulatory framework for the Energy division

The business of electricity production under the special regime in Spain is regulated by Spanish
Electricity Industry Law 54/1997, of 27 November, and by the subsequent implementing regulations.

Most of the Group's electricity production facilities in Spain are governed, as far as the remuneration
framework for the support of renewable energy sources is concerned, by the special regime provided
for in Royal Decree 661/2007, of 25 May, regulating electricity production under the special regime.

Transitional Provision One of Royal Decree 661/2007 acknowledges the right of wind generated
power facilities, inter alia, with start-up certificates pre-dating 1 January 2008 to continue to receive
the premiums and incentives existing under the previous regime (Royal Decree 436/2004, of 12
March) until 31 December 2012, The facilities owned by the Group's subsidiaries that commenced
operations prior to that date availed themselves of the aforementioned Transitional Provision. For all
the facilities that came into service after 1 January 2008 caps and floors were set for the aggregate
price (market price plus premium) applicable to power sales in the market or a regulated fixed tariff
was established.

Substantially all the facilities owned by the Group companies operating in the Spanish market have
been operating under free market conditions.

Royal Decree-Law 6/2009, of 30 April, introduced the facility pre-assignment system for entitlement
to the system of special regime premiums defined in the Spanish Electricity Industry Law until the
targets set in the Renewable Energy Plan for 2020 had been met. The facilities that met the pre-
assignment conditions established in the Royal Decree-Law at the date of its publication would be
entitled to the premiums and tariffs provided for in Royal Decree 661/2007.

Royal Decree 1614/2010 was approved on 7 December 2010. The purpose of this legislation was to
modify and regulate matters relating to the production of electricity using solar thermal and wind
energy technologies with the aim of containing the deficit. The principal new developments were the
establishment of a limit on the equivalent hours of operation with entitlement to a premium for solar
thermal and wind technologies, the obligation to sell electricity at the regulated tariff for the solar
thermal sector for the twelve months following the entry into force of the Royal Decree (or following
the start-up of the related facility if later) and a 35% reduction in the premiums for wind powered
facilities subject to Royal Decree 661/2007 and for the period from the date of approval of the Royal
Decree to 31 December 2012, while maintaining the amounts relating to the cap, floor and regulated
tariff unchanged.

It should be noted in connection with the Group's farms and the regulatory changes introduced by
Royal Decree 1614/2010 that the reduction of the premiums barely affected the Group's farms, since
most of them had start-up certificates pre-dating 1 January 2008 and they availed themselves of the
aforementioned Transitional Provision of Royal Decree 661/2007. Also, the directors consider that the
Itmit placed on operating hours has not affected the Group's facilities, since the number of hours
established in the Royal Decree exceeds the hours that the facilities actually operate.
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On 28 January 2012, Royal Decree-Law 1/2012 was published in the Spanish Official State Gazette
and came into force on that same date, giving rise to the suspension of remuneration pre-assignment
procedures and the removal of economic incentives for new electricity production facilities which use
combined heat and power, renewable energy sources and waste. Royal Decree-Law 1/2012 affects,
inter alia, facilities under the special regime that at 28 January 2012 had not been registered in the Pre-
assignment Register. Since the Group's facilities had been registered in the aforementioned Register
before 28 January 2012, this Royal Decree did not have any effect on the profitability and
recoverability of the carrying amounts of the Group's facilities.

In addition, 28 December 2012 saw the publication of Law 15/2012 on tax measures aimed at energy
sustainability, which affects all electricity production facilities in Spain from 2013 onwards. All of
Acciona's facilities are affected by the tax on the value of electricity output, which consists of a 7% tax
on income from electricity sales.

Also, the aforementioned Law introduced a charge for the use of inland water for electricity
production. This charge consists of a tax of 22% on the economic value of electricity output, with a
90% reduction in the tax for facilities with a capacity of less than 50 MW and pumped storage power
plants.

Lastly, Law 15/2012 also establishes a dual tax on solar thermal plants. On the one hand, the Law
eliminated the premium for power produced using fossil fuels and, on the other, it introduced a tax of
EUR 0.65 per GJ of gas consumed.

Royal Decree-Law 2/2013, of 1 February, on urgent measures in the electricity industry was approved
in 2013. This Royal Decree-Law, retrospectively applicable since 1 January 2013, established a zero
value for the premiums for all technologies and eliminated the caps and floors for the option to sell
electricity in the market but retained the option to sell electricity at the regulated tariff. It also modified
the coefficient for the annual increases in those tariffs, which are now linked to underlying inflation
rather than the increase in the CPI.

This Royal Decree-Law provides that the owners of the facilities must choose between selling the
electricity at the regulated tariff or selling it in the free market without receiving any premium. Once
the choice has been made, it cannot be changed.

In practical terms, the introduction of this Royal Decree-Law led the wind farms and thermal and
biomass plants of the Acciona Group to opt to sell at the regulated tariff from 2013 onwards. The
hydro plants producing under the special regime already sold their output at the regulated tariff prior to
the publication of this Royal Decree-Law.
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2.2 Basis of consolidation

a.

C.

d.

Consolidation methods

The Group's subsidiaries, considered to be the companies over which effective control is exercised
by virtue of ownership of a majority of the voting power in their representation and decision-
making bodies, were fully consolidated (see Appendix I). Joint ventures -entities managed jointly
with third parties on the basis of contractual arrangements- were proportionately consolidated (see
Appendix II). Lastly, associates, i.e. companies not classified as subsidiaries or joint ventures over
whose management the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, were accounted for
using the equity method (see Appendix III). As a general rule, associates are deemed to be
companies in which the Group holds more than 20% of the share capital or of the voting power in
their governing bodies. In addition, certain companies were considered to be associates, even
though the aforementioned percentage was not reached, because significant influence is deemed to
exist (basically through membership of the Board of Directors and/or significant transactions with
the associate).

Eliminations on consolidation

All material balances and effects of the transactions performed by the subsidiaries with associates
and joint ventures were eliminated on consolidation.

The corresponding gains on transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's ownership interest in the share capital thereof
Exceptionally, the profits and losses on internal transactions with Group companies, jointly
controlled entities or associates in connection with certain concession-related activities were not
eliminated.

Uniformity

The Spanish resident companies included in the scope of consolidation were consolidated on the
basis of their separate financial statements prepared in accordance with the Spanish National Chart
of Accounts and foreign companies were consolidated in accordance with local standards. All
material adjustments required to adapt these financial statements to International Financial
Reporting Standards and/or make them compliant with the Group's accounting policies were
considered in the consolidation process.

Subsidiaries

“Subsidiaries” are defined as companies over which the Parent has the capacity to exercise
effective control; control is, in general but not exclusively, presumed to exist when the Parent
owns directly or indirectly more than half of the voting power of the investee. In accordance with
IAS 27, control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of a company so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.
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€.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the Parent.
Accordingly, all material balances and effects of the transactions between consolidated companies
are eliminated on consolidation.

On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values, as provided for in IFRS 3, Business Combinations. Any excess of the
cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets is recognised as goodwill. If the
cost of acquisition is lower than the fair value of the identifiable net assets, the difference is
credited to profit or loss on the acquisition date.

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the date of acquisition to year-end. Similarly, the results of subsidiaries disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the beginning of the year
to the date of disposal.

The interest of non-controlling shareholders is stated at their proportion of the fair values of the
assets and liabilities recognised.

The share of third parties of the equity of their investees is presented within the Group's equity
under “Non-Controlling Interests” in the consolidated balance sheet. Similarly, their share of the
profit or loss for the year is presented under “Non-Controlling Interests” in the consolidated income
statement.

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are deemed to be ventures in which the investee (jointly controlled entity) is jointly
managed by a Group company and one or several unrelated third parties. All parties share control
over strategic decisions, which require their unanimous consent.

The financial statements of jointly controlled entities are proportionately consolidated with those
of the Parent and, therefore, the aggregation of balances and subsequent eliminations are only
made in proportion to the Group's ownership interest in the capital of these entities.

The assets and liabilities relating to jointly controlled operations and the Group's share of the
jointly controlled assets are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet classified according to
their specific nature. Similarly, the Group's share of the income and expenses of joint ventures is
recognised in the consolidated income statement on the basis of the nature of the related items.
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f.

3.-

Equity method

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method, i.e at the Group's share of net assets of the investee, after taking into account the
dividends received therefrom and other equity eliminations.

The value of these investments in the consolidated balance sheet includes, where applicable, the
goodwill arising on the acquisition thereof.

When the Group's investments in associates are reduced to zero, any additional implicit obligations
at the subsidiaries that are accounted for using the equity method are recognised under "Long-Term
Provisions" in the consolidated balance sheet.

In order to present results uniformly the Group's share of the profit or loss before and after tax of
associates 1s disclosed in the consolidated income statement.

Translation differences

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations with a functional
currency other than the euro are translated to euros at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
uniess exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Capital and reserves are translated at the historical
exchange rates. Any translation differences arising are classified as equity. Such translation

differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the year in which the operation is disposed
of.

Changes in the scope of consolidation

In 2012 the main exclusion from consolidation and reduction in percentage of ownership arose as a
result of the sale of Concesionaria Universidad Politécnica de San Luis Potosi, S.A. de C.V. with
registered office in Mexico. This company (as indicated in Note 24) had been classified as a non-
current asset held for sale at 31 December 2011.

In 2011 the main exclusions from consolidation and reductions in percentage of ownership arosc as
a result of the sale of the toll road concession operators in Chile, the car paik conccssion operators
and a shopping centre in Cornella, which had all been classified as assets ho!? £ --': -+ 7

December 2010 (see Note 24). Also, in 2011 the Group sold 15% of Acciona Termosolar, S L
although control over this subsidiary was retained after the sale.

Appendix I'V includes the changes in the scope of consolidation in 2012 and 2011.

Principal accounting policies
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The purpose of this IFRS is to set out in a single standard a framework for measuring the fair value
of assets, liabilities and equity when other standards require that the fair value measurement model
be used. It applies to the measurement of both financial and non-financial items and also groups
together the fair value disclosure requirements. IFRS 13 clarifies the concept that non-performance
risk and, therefore, own credit risk, must be included in the measurement of the fair value of
financial liabilities. As regards disclosures, it uses the three-category hierarchy (Levels 1, 2 and 3)
used by IFRS 7, but they are broadened to encompass non-financial items. At the reporting date, the
future impact of the adoption of this standard had not yet been analysed.

- IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12,
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IAS 27 (Revised) Separate Financial Statements and [AS
28 (Revised), Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.

This “package” of five standards or amendments was issued jointly and is aimed at superseding the
current standards in relation to consolidation and the accounting for investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures and the related disclosures.

IFRS 10 modifies the current definition of control. The new definition of control sets out the
following three elements of control: power over the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from involvement with the investee; and the ability to use power over the investee to affect the
amount of the investor’s returns.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements supersedes IAS 31. [FRS 11 changes the focus of the analysis of joint
arrangements and classifies joint arrangements into only two types: joint operations and joint
ventures. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The way in which the joint arrangement will be
accounted for depends on the conclusion reached as to its classification.

The fundamental change introduced by IFRS 11 with respect to the current standard lies in the
accounting treatment of jointly controlled entities, since they must always be accounted for using
the equity method, whereas [AS 31 currently provides for the option of choosing between
accounting for them using the equity method and proportionately consolidating them. In this regard,
IAS 31 also permitted the latter accounting option to be chosen if the arrangement was structured in
the form of a separate legal entity, which is no longer relevant in the TFRS 11 analysis model,
which is based on the existence of a separate vehicle, regardless of whether or not it is legally
separate.

IFRS 12 represents a single standard presenting the disciosure requirements for interests in other
entities (whether they be subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements or other interests) and includes
new disclosure requirements.
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TAS 27 and TAS 28 are revised in conjunction with the issue of the aforementioned new IFRSs.

From this "package" of standards IFRS 11 will foreseeably have a material effect on the Acciona
Group’s consolidated financial statements as the option that has been applied for the consolidation
of joint ventures has been the proportionate consolidation of their financial statements (see Note
2.2-e). The Group’s directors are currently assessing the impact that the application of this standard
will have on the consolidated financial statements.

With the exception of the matters indicated in the preceding paragraphs, the Group’s directors do not
expect any significant changes to arise as a result of the introduction of the other standards,
amendments and interpretations published but not yet in force, since they are to be applied
prospectively, the amendments relate to presentation and disclosure issues and/or the matters
concerned are not applicable to the Group’s operations.

3.2 Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies used in preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements, in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European

Union, were as follows;

A) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated balance sheet at the lower of acquisition or
production cost less any accumulated depreciation and their recoverable amounts.

The costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity or
efficiency or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are capitalised. Acquisition cost includes
professional fees and borrowing costs incurred during the construction period that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use. The interest rate used
1s that corresponding to funds borrowed specifically or, in the absence thereof, the rate applicable to
the funds borrowed generally by the company making the investment.

The acquisition cost of assets acquired before 31 December 2003 includes any asset revaluations
permitted in the various countries to adjust the value of the property, plant and equipment due to the

effect of inflation until that date.

The balances of assets retired as a result of modernisation or for any other reason are derecognised
from the related cost and accumulated depreciation accounts.
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In-house work on non-current assets is recognised at accumulated cost (external costs, internal costs
calculated on the basis of in-house consumption of warehouse materials and manufacturing costs
incurred).

Upkeep and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated income statement for the year in which
they are incurred.

Generally, depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, on the basis of the acquisition cost
of the assets less their residual value. The land on which the buildings and other structures stand has
an indefinite useful life and, therefore, is not depreciated. The Group companies depreciate their
property, plant and equipment over the years of estimated useful life. The annual depreciation rates
applicable in 2012 were as follows:

Annual depreciation rates

Buildings 2-10%
Plant in service:
Wind farms 5%
Hydroelectric power plants 1-2%
Biomass plants 4%
Solar thermal planis 3.33%
Vessels 5-20%
Remaining plant 3-30%
Machinery 5-33%
Furnitire 5.33%
Computer hardware 13-33%
Transporl equipment T-25%
Other items of property, plant and equipment 2-33%

Finance leases

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are recognised in the corresponding asset
category and are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets.

B) Investment property

“Investment Property” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet reflects the net values (i.e. less

any accumulated depreciation) of the land, buildings and other structures held either to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation.

Investment property is stated at acquisition cost and for all purposes the Group applies the same
policies as those used for property, plant and equipment of the same kind.

Each year the Group determines the fair value of its investment property based on appraisals
undertaken by independent valuers (see Note 5).
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Investment property is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the years of estimated useful life of the
assets, which constitutes the period over which the Group companies expect to use them. The average
depreciation rate is as follows:

Annual depreciation rate
Buildings held for rental 2-5%

C) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
ownership interests in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities, including contingent
assets and liabilities, of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition or at the date
on which control is obtained.

The assets and liabilities acquired are measured provisionally at the date on which control is acquired,
and the resulting value is reviewed in a maximum period of one year from the date of acquisition.
Until the fair value of the assets and liabilities has been definitively determined, the difference
between the cost of acquisition and the carrying amount of the company acquired is recognised
provisionally as goodwill,

Any excess of the cost of the investments in the consolidated companies over the corresponding
underlying carrying amounts acquired, adjusted at the date of first-time consolidation, is allocated as
follows:

- If it is attributable to specific assets and liabilities of the companies acquired, increasing the value
of the assets (or reducing the value of the liabilities) whose market values were higher (lower) than
the carrying amounts at which they had been recognised in their balance sheets and whose
accounting treatment was similar to that of the same assets (liabilities) of the Group: amortisation,
accrual, etc.

- Ifit is attributable to specific intangible assets, recognising it explicitly in the consolidated balance
sheet provided that the fair value at the date of acquisition can be measured reliably.

- The remaining amount is recognised as goodwill, which is allocated to one or more specific cash-
generating units.

Goodwill is only recognised when it has been acquired for consideration and represents, therefore, a
payment made by the acquirer in anticipation of future economic benefits from assets of the acquired

company that are not capable of being individually identified and separately recognised.

Goodwill acquired on or after 1 January 2004 is measured at acquisition cost and that acquired earlier
1s recognised at the carrying amount at 31 December 2003.
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On disposal of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising in the acquisition of companies with a functional currency other than the euro is
translated to euros at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the consolidated balance sheet.

D) Other intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised initially at acquisition or production cost and are subsequently
measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over those useful lives using methods similar to
those used to depreciate property, plant and equipment. The amortisation rates, which were determined

on the basis of the average years of estimated useful life of the assets, are basically as follows:

Annual amortisation rate

Development expenditure 10 - 20%
Administrative concessions 2-25%
Leasehoeld assignment rights 10 -20%
Compunter sofiware 7-33%

The consolidated companies recognise any impairment [oss on the carrying amount of these assets
with a charge to “Impairment and Gains or Losses on Disposals of Non-Current Assets” in the
consolidated income statement. The criteria used to recognise the impairment losses on these assets
and any subsequent recovery thereof are detailed in Note 3.2-E).

Research and development expenditure

As a general rule, expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it
1s incurred, except in development projects in which an identifiable asset is created, it is probable that
the asset will generate future economic benefits, and the development cost of the asset can be
measured reliably. The Group's development expenditure, which relates basically to the wind power
business, is only recognised as an asset if it is probable that it will generate future economic benefits
and the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Development expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Unless the

aforementioned conditions for recognition as an asset are met, development expenditure is recognised
as an expense in the year in which it is incurred.
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Administrative concessions

“ Administrative Concessions” includes the concessions that have been acquired by the Group for
consideration (in the case of concessions that can be transferred) or for the amount of the expenses
incurred to directly obtain the concession from the Government or from the related public agency.
Administrative concessions are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the concession.

Intangible assets in infrastructure projects

Since its adoption of IFRIC 12, the Acciona Group has included intangible assets associated with
concessions in which the investment recovery risk is borne by the operator under “Intangible Assets in
Infrastructure Projects”. This type of concession-related activity is carried out through investments
mainly in transport, car park and water supply infrastructure that is operated by subsidiaries, jointly
controlled entities or associates (concession operators), the detail being as follows:

- The concession infrastructure is owned by the grantor in most cases.

- The concession grantor, which can be a public or private sector entity, controls or regulates the
service offered by the concession operator and the conditions under which it should be provided.

- The infrastructure is operated by the concession operator as established in the concession tender
specifications for an established concession term. At the end of this period, the assets are handed over
to the concession grantor, and the concession operator has no right whatsoever over these assets.

- The concession operator receives revenue for the services provided either directly from the users or
through the concession grantor,

The most significant accounting methods used by the Acciona Group in relation to these concession
arrangements are as follows:

- Capitalisation of the borrowing costs incurred during the construction period and non-capitalisation of
the borrowing costs after the entry into service of the related assets,

- Amortisation of the concession infrastructure on a straight-line basis over the concession term.

- Concession operators amortise these assets so that the carrying amount of the investment made plus

the costs considered necessary to return the assets in working order is zero at the end of the concession
term.

- In virtually all of the concessions of the Acciona Group, the construction work was carried out by
Group companies. In this regard, the income and expenses corresponding to infrastructure construction
or upgrade services are recognised at the gross amount thereof (recognition of the sales and the cost of
sales in the consolidated financial statements of the Acciona Group), recognising the construction
margin in the consolidated financial statements. If construction were not carried out by the Group

itself, this fact would be taken into account for the purpose of recognising sales and the cost of sales in
the consolidated financial statements.
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Computer software
The acquisition and development costs incurred in relation to the basic computer systems used in the
Group's management are recognised at cost with a charge to “Other Intangible Assets” in the

consolidated balance sheet.

Computer system maintenance costs are recognised with a charge to the consolidated income
statement for the year in which they are incurred.

E) Impairment of non-current assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, investment property, goodwill and intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets might have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Where the asset itself does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest identifiable cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset 1s carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

At the end of each reporting period, goodwill is reviewed for impairment (i.e. a reduction in its
recoverable amount to below its carrying amount) and any impairment is written down with a charge
to “Impairment and Gains or Losses on Disposals of Non-Current Assets” in the consolidated income
statement. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill must not be reversed in a subsequent period.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The methodology
used to estimate value in use varies on the basis of the type of asset in question. For these purposes,
the Group considers three types of assets: investment property (assets held to earn rentals), goodwill of
companies and assets of a limited duration (primarily assets related to electricity production and
infrastructure concessions).

Investment property (assets held to earn rentals)

The Group's investment property relates to properties earmarked for lease. The fair value at 31
December 2012 of the Group's investment property was calculated on the basis of the appraisal
conducted at that date by Aguirre Newman.

Assets of this type are measured by discounting rentals at rates that vary on the basis of the type of
building earmarked for lease and of the specific characteristics thereof. In proportion to their carrying
amounts, the assets held to earn rentals may be classified as rental housing (57%), offices (14%),
hotels (18%) and other buildings (11%) (residences, car parks, etc.) The discount rates (yields) used
for each type of building lie in the following ranges: housing units (3.0-3.5%), offices (6.75-8.25%),
hotels (7.0-8.25%) and other buildings (6.5-10.25%).

Based on the appraisal performed, impairment losses were recognised (see Note 5) under "Impairment
and Gains or Losses on Disposals of Non-Current Assets") in the consolidated income statement.

Goodwill of companies

The most significant goodwill of the Acciona Group is allocated to the Energy division. The other
subgroups that recognise goodwill relate mainly to Transmediterranea, Compafia Urbanizadora del
Coto, Acciona Facility Services and Acciona Agua.

The impairment test takes into consideration the cash-generating units' overall capacity to generate
future cash flows. The Group prepares five-year forecasts of project cash flows, including the best
available estimates of the income and expenses of the cash-generating units using industry projections,
past experience and future expectations.

Also, a residual value is calculated on the basis of the normalised cash flows of the last year of the
forecast, to which a perpetuity growth rate is applied which under no circumstances exceeds the
growth rates of previous years. The cash flow used to calculate residual value takes into account the
replacement investments required for the continuity of the business in the future at the estimated
growth rate.

The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is used to discount cash flows, which will depend on
the type of business and on the market in which it is carried on. The average leverage during the
projection period is taken into account in the calculation of the WACC.

Also calculated is: 1) the effective cost of borrowings, which takes into account the tax shield that they
give rise to, based on the average tax rates in each country; and ii) the estimated cost of equity based
on a risk-free interest rate, (generally using as a benchmark the return on a ten-year bond in Spain), the
beta (which factors in the leverage and the risk associated with the asset), a market premlum
(estimated on the basis of historical yields in the capital marb s ~= ~ ~mvimimrs 2inle oot ity
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reflects the risk differential between the various markets). These variables are tested using recent
studies on premiums required at long term, comparable companies in the industry and rates habitually
used by investment banks.

Goodwill of the Energy division

As indicated earlier, the most significant goodwill of the Acciona Group is allocated to the Energy
division and represents the long-term growth capacity of the business mainly in the international
markets, which are the markets that have experienced the greatest organic growth in recent years, with
1,092 MW of capacity installed in international markets in the last four years as compared with the
418 MW installed in the Spanish market. The countries in which these investments have been made
are principally Canada, the US, Australia and Mexico, all of which are considered to be highly stable
countries. It should be noted in this connection that all the MW of capacity that it is planned to install
per the Acciona Group's business plan for the next five years will be installed outside Spain. Most of
this capacity relates to specific projects that are currently at various stages of completion.

Although most of the goodwill of the Energy division is based on international markets, the Spanish
market has witnessed significant regulatory changes in recent years with the approval of Law 15/2012
on tax measures for the sustainability of electricity and Royal Decree-Law 2/2013 on urgent measures
in the electricity industry, as discussed in the section on the regulatory framework of the Energy
division in Note 2.1 above. The international markets were stable in terms of regulatory changes in
2012.

Therefore, when calculating the impairment in 2012, the effects of the regulatory changes in the
industry in Spain up to the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements were taken
into account.

As a result of the foregoing, for the Spanish market long-term inflation of 2% was considered, together
with the correlation with the harmonized core consumer price index (consumer prices index at
constant tax rates excluding unprocessed food and energy prices), and for the international market,
growth rates equal to inflation were assumed. Based on these premises, the perpetuity growth rate used
(g) was 1.5%.

Applying to the Energy division the calculation method described above, the after-tax discount rate
obtained was 7%. In 2012 the decrease in the risk-free rate had a positive impact on this discount rate
and, focusing on the Spanish market, the fact that the new applicable regulatory framework reduced
the level of uncertainty regarding future prices in the projections had a positive impact on the risk
premium to be incorporated into the discount rate.

Based on these parameters, at 31 December 2012 there were no indications that the goodwill had

become impaired. Also, the Group performed an analysis of the sensitivity of the result of the
impairment test to changes in the following assumptions:
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Decrease in the growth rate (g)
Increase in the discount rate
Decrease in energy output

The results of these sensitivity analyses show that a decrease of 80 basis points in the growth rate
applied, an increase of up to 60 basis points in the discount rate and a decrease of 5.5% in the total
energy output of the division, taking these assumptions individually, would not alter the result of the
impairment test, i.e. no indications of impairment of the goodwill would be disclosed.

Non-current assets in projects

This line item includes concession assets and projects with a limited duration and with an independent
financial structure (mainly property, plant and equipment of the Energy division). These types of
business are characterised by having a contractual structure that enables the costs tncurred in a project
to be clearly determined (at both the initial investment stage and the operating stage) and the related
revenue to be reasonably projected over the life thereof.

To calculate the value in use of assets of this nature, the expected cash flows are projected until the
end of the life of the asset. Therefore, it is assumed that there is no terminal value. The projections
include both known data (based on project contracts) and basic assumptions supported by specific
studies performed by experts (on demand, production, etc.). Also, macroeconomic data, such as
inflation, interest rates, etc. are projected.

Since these assets are financed with funds borrowed specifically, the discounted cash flows are
obtained by the shareholder after servicing the debt. The rates used to discount these cash flows are
based on the cost of equity, and in each case include the business risk and the country risk relating to
the location where the operation is being performed.

Concession infrastructure

Concession infrastructure, which belongs mostly to the Infrastructure division, has been recognised
since the adoption of IFRIC 12 as intangible assets where the operator bears the risk of recovering the
asset, or as other non-current assets where the grantor guarantees the recoverability of the asset and,
therefore, the operator does not bear the demand risk.

The detail of the ranges in which the cost of equity used to discount the cash flows from these projects
falls, taking into account the risk associated with each business and the country risk relating to the
location where the operation is being performed, is as follows:

Cost of equity Minimum Maximum
Canada 7.3% 9.0%
Brazil 11.0% 13.3%
Chile 8.5% 10.4%
Mexico 9.8% 12.4%
Spain 6.7% 8.6%
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Most of the concession infrastructure in the international market is located in Canada. It includes
hospitals, such as Acciona Isl Health Victoria Holdco, Ltd and Acciona FSJ Gp, Ltd. that commenced
operations in January 2011 and June 2012, respectively. At the end of 2012 the former was classified
as a non-current asset held for sale because the concession term of the related infrastructure was
mature. Also, the Canadian concession market includes roads such as Acciona Nouvelle Autoroute 30
Inc, Acciona Chinook Roads Gp Inc and Acciona Wep Holdings Inc. Acciona Nouvelle Autoroute 30
Inc. started operating in December 2012, whereas the other two concessions are at the construction
phase.

All the concessions indicated in the preceding paragraph are payment for availability arrangements
and, therefore, the Acciona Group does not bear the related demand risk. There is no indication that
any of the concession infrastructure has become impaired and there are no significant variances with
respect to the initial economic model.

The infrastructure in the rest of the international market includes most notably two roads in Chile and
Brazil, which are currently being built by the Group, and a hospital in Mexico, which is classified as a
non-current asset held for sale and for which the purchase offers received comfortably exceed its
carrying amount.

The main items of concession infrastructure in operation in the Spanish market are concentrated in the
investments in the following companies: Infraestructuras Radiales, S.A., Autovia de los Vifiedos, S.A.,
S.C. del Canal de Navarra, S.A. and S.C. Hospital del Norte, S A

It should be noted that in recent years Infraestructuras Radiales, S.A. has been incurring losses and
providing returns below those required by the Group and, therefore, all the contributions made by the
Acciona Group in the form of loans or capital, totalling EUR 58 million, have been provisioned in full.

At 31 December 2012, Autovia de los Vifiedos, S.A. was classified as a non-current asset held for sale
and the purchase offers received exceed its carrying amount.

These concession, except for S.C. del Hospital del Norte, S.A. and S.C. del Canal de Navarra, S.A.
(neither of which bear the demand risk), are accounted for using the intangible asset model, since they
bear the demand risk. The current performance of this concession infrastructure is within the tolerance
levels envisaged in the sensitivity tests carried out on the economic models and in no cases were any
indications of impairment detected.

The other concessions in the Spanish market were at the construction stage at 31 December 2012.

Property. plant and equipment of the Energy division

As regards the non-current assets in the Spanish market, since there has been a regulatory change, as
indicated in previous paragraphs and as discussed in the section on the regulatory framework of the
Energy division in Note 2.1 above, the Acciona Group assessed the main implications for the cash
flows from the projects that the charges and levies which, from 1 January 2013, as a result of the
application of Law 15/2012 will be charged on power sale revenue, and, on a preventative basis, the
additional effects on the Spanish projects mainly of the loss of the premium and the discountine of the
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cash flows at a rate of inflation below the increase in the CPI from 1 January 2013 as a result of the
application of Royal Decree-Law 2/2013.

The cost of equity used to discount the cash flows from these projects was 9%. It should be noted that
this analysis did not disclose the need to recognise any impairment losses.

As regards the non-current assets in the US market, certain wind power assets showed indications of
impairment as a result of their scant profitability in recent years and, therefore, they were tested for
impairment. The cost of equity used to discount the cash flows from these projects ranged from 9.5%
to 10.9%, based on the state in which each asset is located (which determines the applicable
legislation) and on the agreements regarding prices entered into for each wind farm. At 31 December
2012, having completed the test, it was decided to recognise an impairment loss of EUR 30.6 million,
plus an additional EUR 18 million for development expenditure relating to projects abandoned also in
the US market. Both losses were recognised under "Impairment and Gains or Losses on Disposals of
Non-Current Assets” in the consolidated income statement.

The non-current assets in the international market outside the US are Jocated mainly in countries such
as Mexico, Australia, Canada and European countries such as Portugal, Germany and Italy. To date
there have not been any indications of impairment.

F) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Finance leases

When the consolidated companies act as the lessee, they present the cost of the leased assets in the
consolidated balance sheet, based on the nature of the leased asset, and, simultancously, recognise a
liability for the same amount (which will be the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the
aggregate present values of the amounts payable to the lessor plus, where applicable, the price of
exercising the purchase option). These assets are depreciated using the same criteria as those applied
to similar items of property, plant and equipment that are owned.

The finance charges arising under finance leases are charged to the consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the term of the leases.

When the Compafiia Trasmediterranea subgroup acquires vessels under finance leases, it is obliged to

place deposits with a pre-established payment schedule and pre-established interest to cover future
finance lease payments from the moment construction of the vessels begins.

- Pag.31 -



In 2012 and 2011 no borrowing costs on the financing obtained for making the deposits were
capitalised to non-current assets.

Operating leases
In operating leases, the ownership of the leased asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
relating to the leased assets remain with the lessor, which recognises the assets at their acquisition

cost.

These assets are depreciated using a policy consistent with the lessor's normal depreciation policy for
similar items and lease income is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis.

When the consolidated companies act as the lessee, lease costs, including any incentives granted by
the lessor, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis.

Amounts received and receivable as incentives for the arrangement of operating leases are also
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

G) Non-current receivables and other non-current assets

“Non-Current Receivables and Other Non-Current Assets” includes the non-current trade receivables,
mamly from public authorities, and withholdings from trade receivables, relating mainly to the
Infrastructure division.

Since its adoption of IFRIC 12, the Acciona Group has recognised under “Non-Current Receivables
and Other Non-Current Assets” non-current assets associated with concessions in which the grantor
guarantees the recovery of the asset through the payment of a fixed or determinable amount and,
accordingly, in which, therefore, the operator does not bear any demand risk.

This type of concession-related activity is carried on through investments mainly in transport, water
supply and hospital infrastructure that is operated by subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or
associates (concession operators), the detail being as follows:

- The concession infrastructure is owned by the grantor in most cases.

- The concession grantor, which can be a public or private sector entity, controls or regulates the
service offered by the concession operator and the conditions under which it should be provided.
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- The infrastructure is operated by the concession operator as established in the concession tender
specifications for an established concession term. At the end of this period, the assets are returned to
the concession grantor, and the concession operator has no right whatsoever over these assets.

- The concession operator receives revenue for the services provided either directly from the users or
through the concession grantor.

The most significant accounting methods used by the Acciona Group in relation to these concession
arrangements are as follows:

- The account receivable is recognised for the present value of the amount receivable from the grantor.

- Borrowing costs are not capitalised, either during the construction phase or after the concession has
started to operate.

- Even during the construction phase the Group recognises interest income earned on the financial
asset, based on its effective interest rate,

- In virtually all of the concessions of the Acciona Group, the construction was carried out by Group
companies. In this regard, the income and expenses corresponding to infrastructure construction or
upgrade services are recognised at the gross amount thereof (recognition of the sales and the cost of
sales in the consolidated financial statements of the Acciona Group), recognising the construction
margin in the consolidated financial statements. If construction were not carried out by the Group
itself, this fact would be taken into account for the purpose of recognising sales and the cost of sales in
the consolidated financial statements.

- There is no depreciation or amortisation charge since the arrangements constitute a financial asset.
- Annual billings are divided into a financial asset component recognised in the balance sheet (and,

therefore, not recognised as sales) and the component relating to services provided, which is
recognised under “Revenue”.

H) Financial instrument disclosures

As a result of the adoption in 2007 of IFRS 7 and of the amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 7, the
qualitative and quantitative disclosures on financial instruments and risk and capital management were
extended and are detailed in the following notes:

- Financial asset and liability categories, including derivative financial instruments and accounting
policies are detailed in Note 3.2-i.

- Classification of the fair value measurements of financial assets and for derivative financial
instruments consistent with the fair value hierarchy established in IFRS 7, detailed in Note 3.2-i.

- (Qualitative and quantitative) disclosure requirements relating to canital are detailed in Note
16-g.
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- Risk accounting and management policies are detailed in Note 19.

- Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting are detailed in Note 20.

- Transfers from equity to profit for the year of settlements of hedging derivative financial
instrument transactions are detailed in Note 29.

1§ Financial instruments

Non-current and current financial assets excluding hedging derivatives

The financial assets held by the Group companies are classified as:

- Loans and receivables: financial assets originated by the companies in exchange for supplying cash,
goods or services directly to a debtor. These items are measured at amortised cost, which is
basically the initial market value, minus principal repayments, plus the accrued interest receivable
calculated using the effective interest method.

- Held-to-maturtty investments: assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity The
Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them from the date of purchase to the date of
maturity. This category includes mainly short-term deposits, which are measured at amortised cost,
as indicated above.

- Held-for-trading financial assets: assets acquired by the companies with the intention of generating
a profit from short-term fluctuations in their prices or from differences between their purchase and
sale prices. This heading also includes financial derivatives not considered to qualify for hedge
accounting, as well as other assets which upon initial recognition are designated, as permitted under
IFRSs, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. They are measured at fair value at the
date of subsequent measurement where this can be determined reliably. In these cases, the gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement for the year. At
31 December 2012 and 2011, the Acciona Group did not have any financial assets of this type.

- Deposits and guarantees: in the specific case of the acquisition of vessels under finance lease
agreements, as indicated in Note 3.2-F, the Compafiia Trasmediterranea subgroup is obliged to give
deposits with a pre-established payment schedule and pre-established interest to cover future
finance lease payments. These deposits are recognised under “Non-Current Financial Assets” and
"Other Current Financial Assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, based on the
dates on which the related lease payments payable fall due. Both headings include the amounts
effectively delivered and interest until year-end calculated on a time proportion basis, which are
taken to profit or loss over the term of the lease, also on a time proportion basis.
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- Available-for-sale financial assets: these relate to securities acquired that are not classified in the
other categories, substantially all of which relate to investments in the capital of companies. They
are measured:

- At acquisition cost, adjusted for any impairment losses disclosed, in the case of investments in
unlisted companies, since it is not always possible to determine the fair value reliably.

- At fair value when it is possible to determine it reliably, based on either the market price or, in
the absence thereof, using the price established in recent transactions or the discounted present
value of the future cash flows. The gains and losses from changes in fair value are recognised
directly in equity until the asset is disposed of, at which time the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in equity are recognised in the income statement for the year. If fair
value is lower than acquisition cost and there is objective evidence that the asset has suffered
an impairment loss that cannot be considered reversible, the difference is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement.

At 31 December 2012, the available-for-sale financial assets were measured by reference to
quoted (unadjusted) market prices and categorised in level one of the fair value measurement
hierarchy established in IFRS 7.

In 2012 and 2011 no financial assets were reclassified among the categories defined in the preceding
paragraphs.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised using the trade date method.

Transfers of financial assets

The Acciona Group derecognises financial assets when they expire or when the rights to the cash
flows from the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have also been
transferred, such as in the case of firm asset sales, factoring of trade receivables in which the company
does not retain any credit or interest rate risk, sales of financial assets under an agreement to
repurchase them at fair value and the securitisation of financial assets in which the transferor does not
retain any subordinate financing or award any kind of guarantee or assume any other kind of risk.

Bank borrowings other than derivatives

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafis are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs. Borrowing costs, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue
costs, are recognised in the income statement on an accrual basis using the effective interest method
and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the
period in which they arise. In subsequent periods, these obligations are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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In specific cases where liabilities are the underlying of a fair value hedge, they are measured,
exceptionally, at fair value for the portion of the hedged risk.

Non-current assets financed with project finance

Through subsidiaries or associates, the Acciona Group has invested mainly in transport, energy, water
supply and hospital infrastructure that is operated by subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or
associates and are financed under project finance arrangements.

These financing structures are applied to projects capable in their own right of providing sufficient
guarantees to the participating banks with regard to the repayment of the funds borrowed to finance
them. Each project is usually performed through specific companies in which the project's assets are
financed, on the one hand, through a contribution of funds by the promoters, which is limited to a
given amount, and on the other, generally of a larger amount, through borrowed funds in the form of
long-term debt. The debt servicing of these credit facilities or loans is supported mainly by the cash
flows to be generated by the project in the future and by security interests in the project's assets.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group's activities expose it mainly to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and
interest rates and in certain fuel stocks and fuel supplies. The Group uses foreign exchange forward
contracts and interest rate swap contracts to hedge these exposures. Electricity and fuel price and
supply hedging transactions are also arranged. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
for speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group's policies approved by the Board of
Directors.

Accounting policies:

Derivatives are recognised at fair value (see measurement bases below) at the consolidated balance
sheet date under “Other Current Financial Assets” or “Non-Current Financial Assets” if positive and
under “Bank Borrowings” (both current and non-current) if negative. Changes in the fair value of
derivative financial instruments are recognised in the consolidated income statement as they arise. If
the derivative has been designated as a hedge which is highly effective, it is recognised as follows:
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- Fair value hedges: these hedges are arranged to fully or partially reduce the risk of fluctuations in
the value of assets and liabilities (underlyings) recognised in the consolidated balance sheet. The
portion of the underlying for which the risk is being hedged is measured at fair value, as is the
related hedging instrument, and changes in the fair values of both items are recognised under the
same heading in the consolidated income statement. At 31 December 2012, the Group had not
arranged any fair value hedges.

- Cash flow hedges: these hedges are arranged to reduce the risk of potential changes in the cash
flows associated with the interest payments on non-current f{loating-rate financial liabilities,
exchange rates and fuel stock and fuel hedges. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are
recognised, with respect to the effective portion of the hedge, under “Equity - Reserves - Valuation
Adjustments - Hedges”. The cumulative gain or loss recognised in this heading is transferred to the
consolidated income statement to the extent of the impact of the underlying (resulting from the risk
hedged) on the consolidated income statement; thus this effect 1s netted off under the same heading
in the consolidated income statement. Gains or losses on the ineffective portion of the hedges are
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement.

- Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation: changes in fair value are recognised, in respect
of the effective portion of these hedges, net of the related tax effect, as “Translation Differences” in
equity, and are transferred to the consolidated income statement when the hedged investment is
disposed of. At 31 December 2012, the Group did not have any hedges relating to net investments
in a foreign operation.

Group policy on hedging:

At the inception of the transaction, the Group designates and formally documents the hedging
relationship and the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. Hedges are only recognised
when the hedging relationship is expected, prospectively, to be highly effective from inception and in
subsequent years it will be effective to offset the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged
item during the life of the hedge and, retrospectively, that the actual effectiveness of the hedge, which
can be reliably calculated, 1s within a range of 80 - 125% of the gain or loss on the hedged item.

The Group does not hedge forecast transactions, but rather only firm financing commitments. If the
cash flows from forecast transactions were hedged, the Group would assess whether such transactions
were highly probable and whether they were exposed to changes in cash flows that could ultimately
affect profit for the year.

If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset or a non-financial liability, then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the
associated gains or losses on the derivative that had previously been recognised in equity are included
in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. For hedges that do not result in recognition of a non-
financial asset or liability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the income statement in the
same period as that in which the hedged item affects net profit or loss.
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Compound financial instruments with multiple embedded derivatives
The Acciona Group does not have any compound financial instruments with embedded derivatives.
Measurement bases

At 31 December 2012, the changes in fair value of the various derivative financial instruments
were categorised in level two of the fair value measurement hierarchy established in IFRS 7, as
they reflect observable inputs but not quoted prices. Specifically, the fair value calculations for
each type of financial instrument are as follows:

- Interest rate swaps are valued by discounting future settlements between fixed and floating interest
rates to their present value, in line with implicit market rates, obtained from long-term interest rate
swap curves. Implicit volatility is used to calculate the fair values of caps and floors using option
pricing models.

- Foreign currency hedging and option contracts are valued using the spot exchange rate, the
forward interest rate curves of the related currencies and, in the case of options, implicit volatility
until maturity.

- Commodities contracts (for fuel) are valued in a similar way, in this case, taking into account the
futures prices of the underlying and the implicit volatility of the options.

- The Group measures derivatives not traded on an organised market, by discounting the expected
cash flows and using generally accepted option pricing models based on spot and futures market
conditions at the end of each year, However, at 31 December 2012 and 2011, the Group did not
have any derivatives not traded on an organised market.

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value, which does not differ
substantially from their fair value.

Current/Non-current classification

In the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, assets and liabilities maturing within no more than
twelve months are classified as current items and those maturing within more than twelve months are
classified as non-current items. The companies in the Real Estate division classify their liabilities
based on their production cycle, which usually encompasses a longer period than the aforementioned
twelve months. The current assets and liabilities allocated to this division with an estimated maturity
of more than twelve months are as follows:;
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The appraisals were carried out in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards issued
by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) of the United Kingdom and the International
Valuation Standards (IVS) issued by the International Valuation Standards Committee (IVSC).
The residual method was used to calculate the fair value, supplemented by the comparative
method. This value constitutes the best estimate of the market value of these assets.

Whenever there is a reasonable change in the basic assumptions that affect the recoverable
amount of the assets, the Group performs a sensitivity analysis to determine whether this change
may reduce the realisable value to below the carrying amount, in which case, an impairment loss
is recognised.

K) Treasury shares

At 31 December 2012, Acciona, S.A. and its subsidiary Finanzas Dos, S.A. held 108,781 treasury
shares representing 0.19% of the share capital at that date. The acquisition cost of these shares
amounted to EUR 4,107 thousand. The acquisition cost of the treasury shares and the gains or losses
on transactions involving them are recognised directly in equity (see Note 16).

At 31 December 2011, Acciona, S.A. and its subsidiaries Tibest Cuatro, S.A. and Finanzas Dos, S A
held 5,598,867 treasury shares representing 8.8102% of the share capital at that date. The acquisition
cost of these shares amounted to EUR 411,129 thousand.

Effective 6 June 2012, the Board of Directors of Acciona, S.A. reduced capital by EUR 6,290,450
through the retirement of 6,290,450 treasury shares. This resolution to reduce capital was approved by
the shareholders at a General Meeting heid on 24 May 2012 (see Note 16-a)).

L) Termination benefits

Under current legislation, the Spanish consolidated companies and certain foreign companies are
required to pay termination benefits to employees terminated without just cause. The Acciona Group
companies currently do not have any extraordinary employee termination plans that have not been
appropriately provisioned in accordance with current legislation.

M)  Provisions

The Group's consolidated financial statements include all the provisions covering present obligations
at the balance sheet date arising from past events which could give rise to a loss for the companies that
1s certain as to its nature but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing. They include all the provisions

with respect to which it is considered that it is more likely than not that the obligation will have to be
settled.
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Provisions, which are quantified on the basis of the best information available on the consequences of
the event giving rise to them and are reviewed and adjusted at the end of each year, are used to cater
for the specific obligations for which they were originally recognised. Provisions are fully or partially
reversed when such obligations cease to exist or are reduced.

Litigation and/or claims in process

At the end of 2012 and 2011, certain litigation and claims were in process against the consolidated
companies arising from the ordinary course of their operations. The Group's directors, taking into
account the opinion of its legal advisers, consider that the outcome of litigation and claims will not
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements for the years in which they are settled.
Accordingly, they did not deem it necessary to record an additional provision in this connection.

Operating provisions and allowances

These provisions and allowances include costs that have not yet been incurred. The provision for the
cost of completion of construction projects is intended to cover the expenses arising from the date on
which project units are completed to the date of delivery to the customer.

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

Except for the two groups discussed later in this section, the Acciona Group companies do not have
any pension plans to supplement social security pensions. The appropriate provisions are recognised
for terminations of permanent site personnel,

- The collective agreements of certain Compafiia Trasmediterranea subgroup companies
establish benefits of specific amounts for employees who reach retirement age, subject to compliance
with the conditions stipulated in these agreements. Some of these collective agreements also establish
a loyalty bonus based on the employee's length of service at the company.

On 15 December 2002, pursuant to Royal Decree 1588/1999, of 15 October, Compaiiia
Trasmediterranea externalised its employee retirement benefit obligations by arranging a single-
premium insurance policy. The cost recognised at 31 December 2012 and 2011 relating to the amounts
payable to the insurance company for the benefit obligations accrued in those years amounted to EUR
385 thousand and EUR 466 thousand, respectively, and this amount was recognised under “Wages and
Salaries” in the accompanying consolidated income statement.

“Non-Current Liabilities - Provisions” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at 31

December 2012 and 2011 includes the liabilities relating to Compafiia Trasmediterranea's loyalty
bonus obligations, amounting to EUR 741 thousand and EUR 745 thousand, respectively.
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- As a result of the acquisition of assets and/or companies from the Endesa Group in 2009,
certain companies in the Acciona Group entered into or were subrogated to collective agreements that
establish benefits of specific amounts for employees included in such agreements who reach
retirement age, provided that the conditions established in the agreements are met. Some of these
collective agreements also establish a loyalty bonus based on the employee's length of service at the
companies. The impact of these obligations was scantly material.

These companies also have various pension obligations to their employees, which vary depending on
the Endesa Group company from which they came. These obligations, which are both defined benefit
and defined contribution obligations, are basically formalised in pension plans or insurance policies,
except as regards certain benefits in kind, mainly electricity supply obligations, which, due to their
nature, have not been externalised and are covered by the related in-house provisions.

For the defined benefit plans, the companies recognise the expenditure relating to these obligations on
an accrual basis over the working life of the employees by performing at the consolidated balance
sheet date the appropriate actuarial studies calculated using the projected unit credit method. The past
service costs relating to changes in benefits are recognised immediately in the consolidated income
statement as the benefits vest.

The defined benefit plan obligations represent the present value of the accrued benefits after deducting
the fair value of the qualifying plan assets. The actuarial losses and gains arising in the measurement
of both the plan liabilities and the plan assets are recognised directly in equity under “Reserves -
Change due to Actuarial Losses and Gains on Pension Schemes”.

For each of the plans, any positive difference between the actuarial liability for past services and the
plan assets is recognised under “Provisions” in the consolidated balance sheet and any negative
difference is recognised under “Trade and Other Receivables” on the asset side of the consolidated
balance sheet, provided that such negative difference is recoverable by the Group, usually through a
reduction in future contributions.

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income
statement for the year, in line with the rendering of services by the employees.

The Group recognises the full amount of the expenditure relating to these plans when the obligation
arises by performing the appropriate actuarial studies to calculate the present actuarial obligation at
year-end. The actuarial gains and losses disclosed each year are recognised in the consolidated income
statement for that year.
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The impact of these plans on the consolidated income statement is not material (see Note 17).

The Group recognises termination benefits when there is an individual or collective agreement with
the employees or a genuine expectation that such an agreement will be reached that will enable the
employees, unilaterally or by mutual agreement with the Group company, to cease working for the
Group in exchange for a termination benefit. If a mutual agreement is required, a provision is only
recorded in situations in which the Group has decided to consent to the termination of the employees
when this has been requested by them. In all cases in which these provisions are recognised the
employees have an expectation that these early retirements will take place.

N) Grants

Government grants related to assets to cover staff re-training costs are recognised as income once all
the conditions attaching to them have been fulfilled over the periods necessary to match them with the
related costs.

Government grants related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are treated as
deferred income, are classified under “Other Non-Current Liabilities” and are taken to income over the

expected useful lives of the assets concerned under “Other Income”.

0) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the
amounts receivable for the goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes. Sales of goods are recognised when substantially all the
risks and rewards have been transferred.

Following 1s a detail of certain of the particular features of the business activities carried on by the
Group:

Construction business:

The Group companies recognise construction contract revenue and expenses by reference to the stage
of completion of the contract activity at the consolidated balance sheet date, determined on the basis of
an examination of the work performed. Under this method, contract revenue is recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the accounting periods in which the contract work is performed, and
contract costs are recognised as an expense in the accounting periods in which the work for which they
are incurred is performed, provided that:

- Total contract revenue and the costs to complete the contract can be measured reliably, where
appropriate, estimated contract revenue and contract costs are reviewed and revised as the contract
progresses.

- Itis probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will be obtained.
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- The costs attnbutable to the contract can be clearly identified and measured reliably.

In exceptional cases, where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred and contract revenue
is recognised only to the extent of the probable recoverability of contract costs incurred.

In practice, revenue relates to the work completed in the year (as determined in the aforementioned
examination), measured at the contract prices, provided that the work in question is included in the
subject-matter of the main contract entered into with the customer.

Since contracts can be subject to variations during the performance of the construction project -due to
instructions from the customer to change the scope of the work to be performed- contract variations
are only recogntsed as revenue when negotiations have reached an advanced stage and, therefore, it 1s
sufficiently certain that the customer will approve the variation.

Late-payment interest resulting from a delay in the payment of progress billings by the customer is
only recognised when it can be measured reliably and its collection is reasonably assured.

If, due either to a delay in collection or to the insolvency of the customer, uncertainty arises as to the
collectability of an item already recognised as contract revenue, the related provision for uncollectable
amounts is recorded on the basis of the estimated customer risk,

Construction contract costs are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e. they are recognised as an expense
in the year in which the work to which they relate is performed. Costs that relate to future activity on
the contract, such as insurance premiums, site installations, fencing and enclosures, etc., are initially
recognised as assets and are periodically charged to income on the basis of the stage of completion of
the contract.

As regards the depreciation of property, plant and equipment used in construction contracts, the assets
whose estimated useful life coincides with the duration of the construction work are depreciated over
the term of the contract so that they are fully depreciated upon completion thereof.

Machinery whose useful life exceeds the term of the contract is depreciated systematically on the basis
of the technical criteria stipulated in the various contracts in which it is used.

Machinery removal and site installation dismantling costs, upkeep costs within the warranty period
and the costs, if any, arising in the period from the completion of the construction work to the date of
final settlement are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the life of the construction project,
since they relate both to the completed contract units and to future activity on the contract.

When it is considered probable that estimated contract costs will exceed contract revenue, a provision
for the expected loss is recognised with a charge to the income statement for the year in which the loss
becomes known, irrespective of whether the construction units under the contract have been
completed.
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Real Estate business:

The Group companies recognise property sale revenue and expenses on the date the property is
delivered, since this is considered to be the time when the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
are transferred to the buyers.

Accordingly, at the date of delivery of the property the Group companies recognise the provisions, if
any, required to cover the contractually stipulated costs not yet incurred in relation to the asset
delivered. These provisions arise from a present obligation of the Group company, the amount of
which can be estimated reliably and whose settlement will probably give rise to an outflow of
resources for the Group company.

Rental revenue is recognised on an accrual basis, and incentive-related income and the initial costs of
the lease agreements are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
agreement.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisttion or construction of property developments or
investment property -assets that necessarily require a substantial period of time to be prepared for their
intended use or sale- are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for use or sale, provided that the fair value exceeds the accumulated cost of the asset. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Services business:

Revenue associated with the rendering of services is also recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date, provided the outcome of the transaction can be
estimated reliably.

The Group companies recognise as the profit or loss on their services each year the difference between
production (value at the selling price of the services provided during the period, as stipulated in the
main contract entered into with the customer or in approved amendments or addenda thereto, or of the
services not yet approved whose recovery is reasonably certain) and the costs incurred during the year,
since the revenue and expenses from projects in the services industry can undergo major changes
during the period of performance, which are difficult to predict and quantify objectively.

Price revisions stipulated in the initial contract entered into with the customer are recognised as

revenue on an accrual, basis, irrespective of whether they have been approved by the customer on an
annual basis.
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Energy business:

One of businesses of the Acciona Group is the turn-key construction of wind farms and other energy
production facilities. The total costs incurred in these projects are recognised as operating expenses
and the related sales are recognised in accordance with the stage of completion of the project,
calculated on the basis of the price and terms and conditions of the sale agreement at the cost incurred
and at the estimated cost, based on the detailed budgets of each contract applied since the inception
thereof. Losses on contracts are recognised in full in the consolidated income statement for the year as
soon as they become known.

P) Income tax. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The current income tax expense is calculated by aggregating the current tax arising from the
application of the tax rate to the adjusted accounting profit for the year, after deducting the tax credits
allowable for tax purposes, plus the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the taxes expected to be payable or recoverable on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their
tax bases. They are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled.

Income tax and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities not arising from business combinations
are recognised in the consolidated income statement or in equity accounts in the consolidated balance
sheet depending on where the profits or losses giving rise to them have been recognised.

Changes arising from business combinations that are not recognised on the acquisition of the
controlling interest because their recovery is not assured are recognised by reducing, where
appropriate, the carrying amount of goodwill recognised when the business combination was
accounted for or, if no such goodwill exists, using the aforementioned method.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences, and tax loss and tax credit carryforwards are
only recognised if it is considered probable that the consolidated companies will have sufficient future
taxable profits against which they can be utilised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised are reassessed at each balance sheet date in order to
ascertain whether they still exist, and the appropriate adjustments are made on the basis of the findings

of the analyses performed.

Q) Foreign currency balances and transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of each company are recognised in the
functional currency by applying the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. During the
year, the differences that arise between the balances translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the
date of the transaction and the balances translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of

collection or payment are recorded as finance costs or finance income in the consolidated income
statement.
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Also, balances receivable or payable at 31 December each year denominated in currencies other than
the functional currencies in which the financial statements of the consolidated companies are
denominated are translated to euros at the year-end exchange rates. The translation differences are
recognised as finance costs or finance income in the consolidated income statement.

R) Environmental activities

In general, environmental activities are considered to be operations whose main purpose 1s to prevent,
reduce or redress damage to the environment.

Investments relating to environmental activities are measured at acquisition cost and capitalised as an
addition to non-current assets in the year in which they are made.

Environmental protection and improvement expenses are charged to income in the year in which they
are incurred, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial flow arises.

Provisions for probable or certain third-party lability, litigation in process and outstanding
environmental indemnity payments or obligations of undetermined amount not covered by the
insurance policies taken out are recorded when the liability or obligation giving rise to the indemnity
OT payment arises.

S) Discontinued operations and non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale

The Group classifies as “Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale” property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, other non-current assets or investments under “Investments Accounted
for Using the Equity Method” and disposal groups (groups of assets which will be disposed of together
with their directly associated liabilities) for which at the date of the consolidated balance sheet an
active programme and reasonable prices had been established to sell them and the sale is expected to
be completed within twelve months from that date.

The Group classifies as “Discontinued Operations” the business lines that were sold or disposed of by
other means or which meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale, including, where applicabte,
assets which, together with the business line, form part of the same disposal plan or are classified as
held for sale as a result of commitments acquired. Also, companies acquired exclusively with a view
to resale are classified as “Discontinued Operations”.

These assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell, and depreciation on such assets ceases from the time they are classified as “Non-Current Assets
Classified as Held for Sale”. However, at the date of each consolidated balance sheet the related
valuation adjustments are made to ensure that the carrying amount is not higher than fair value less
costs to sell.
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The non-current assets held for sale and the components of the disposal groups classified as held for
sale are presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows: the assets as a single
line item called “Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” and
the liabilities also as a single line item called “Liabilitics Associated with Non-Current Assets
Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

The profit or loss after tax of discontinued operations is presented as a single line item in the
consolidated income statement as “Profit/Loss after Tax from Discontinued Operations”.

T) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit or loss attributable to the Parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding the average
number of shares of the Parent held by the Group companies.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders adjusted by the effect attributable to the dilutive potential ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all
the potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares of the Parent. For these purposes, it is considered that
the shares are converted at the beginning of the year or at the date of issue of the potential ordinary
shares, if the latter were issued during the current period. Since the Group does not have any dilutive
potential ordinary shares, the basic earnings per share and the diluted earnings per share for 2012 and
2011 coincide.

uU) Consolidated statement of cash flows

The following terms, with the meanings specified, are used in the consolidated statement of cash
flows, which was prepared using the indirect method:

- Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are taken to be changes in
the value of short-term, highly liquid investments.

- Operating activities: the principal revenue-producing activities of the Company and other activities
that are not investing or financing activities. Beginning with the profit before tax from continuing
operations, in addition to the adjustment for “Depreciation and Amortisation Charge”, transfers of
interest paid and received are recognised under “Other Adjustments to Profit (Net)" although on a
separate basis, as well as the transfer of the gains or losses on disposal of non-current assets
included under investing activities and, lastly, the adjustments to the results of companies
accounted for using the equity method and, in general, any results that do not generate cash flows.
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- Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not
included in cash and cash equivalents.

- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and
borrowings that are not operating activities,

3.3 Accounting estimates and judgements
The information in these financial statements is the responsibility of the Parent’s directors.

In the consolidated financial statements for 2012 and 2011 estimates were made by the Group's
directors in order to measure certain of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations
reported herein, These estimates relate basically to the foliowing:

- The measurement of assets and goodwill to ascertain whether there are any impairment losses
thereon.

- Distribution of the cost of the business combinations.

- The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of the pension liabilities and obligations.

- The useful life of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets.

- The assumptions used in measuring the fair value of the financial instruments.

- The probability of the occurrence and the amount of liabilities of undetermined amount or
contingent liabilities.

- The future facility closure and land restoration costs.
- The results for tax purposes of the various Group companies that will be reported to the tax

authorities in the future that served as the basis for recognising the various income tax-related
balances in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 31 December 2012 and
2011 on the events analysed. However, events that take place in the future might make it necessary to

change these estimates. Any such changes would be made in accordance with the requirements of
IAS 8.

3.4 Changes in accounting estimates and policies and correction of fundamental errors

- Changes in accounting estimates: the effect of any change in accounting estimates is recognised
under the same income statement heading as that under which the expense or income measured
using the previous estimate was recognised.
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Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment in use at 31 December 2012 and 2011 amounted to
EUR 381 million and EUR 332 million, respectively; most of these assets are currently in use.

At 31 December 2012, the Group companies had property, plant and equipment purchase
commitments amounting to EUR 33 million, mainly for wind farm projects undertaken in the Energy
division. The commitments at 31 December 2011 totalled EUR 334 million.

The Group has taken out insurance policies to cover the possible risks to which its property, plant and
equipment are subject and the claims that might be filed against it for carrying on its business
activities. These policies are considered to adequately cover the related risks.

The carrying amount of the Group's property, plant and equipment did not include any material gross
amount {2011: EUR 305 million) in respect of assets held under finance leases whose purchase option
was exercised in 2012. A portion of this amount related to certain vessels belonging to the Compaiiia
Trasmediterranea subgroup which were mortgaged to secure repayment of the loans granted by a
bank. The acquisition cost of these vessels was EUR 82 million in 2011,

The Group has mortgaged land and buildings totalling EUR 34 million (2011: EUR 35 mitlion) to
secure credit facilities granted to the Group by banks. In addition, at 31 December 2012, certain
vessels with a carrying amount of EUR 316 million (2011: EUR 340 million) had been mortgaged to
secure repayment of the loans received for their acquisition.

5.- Investment property

The Group's investment property relates mainly to properties earmarked for lease.

The changes in 2012 and 2011 in the Group's investment property were as follows:
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Non-current Current

Balance at 31/12/10 43,338 1,256
Additions 28,148 -
Sales (22,203) (12)
Changes in fair value 2,170 --
Transfers -- (1,185)
Qther changes 52 -
Changes in the scope of consolidation (676 --
Ending balance at 31/12/11 50,829 59
Additions 2,481 10
Sales (6,938)
Changes in fair value (1,703)
Transfers .-
Other changes 29
Changes in the scope of consolidation -
Balance at 31/12/12 44,640 69
Impairment losses
Balance at 31/12/10 (6,384) -
Additions (170} -
Sales (706) -
Transfers -- -
Other changes - -
Ending balance at 31/12/11 (7,760) -
Additions 312 -
Sales 799 -
Transfers - --
Other changes -- -
Changes inthe scope of consolidation - -
Balance at 31/12/12 (7,273) -
| Total, net |

In 2012 there were no significant changes in “Available-for-Sale Financial Assets”. The amount in the
“Variations Due to Change in Fair Value” line relates mainly to the lower value of the ownership
interest in Bolsas y Mercados Espaiioles.

Held-to-maturity investments:

The changes in the investments recognised as current assets under “Held-to-Maturity Investments”,
were as follows:
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Total current

Balance at 31/12/10 124,009
Addimons 173,678
Changes in fair value -
Sales -

Transfers 1,185
Other changes -
Ending balance at 31/12/11 298,872
Additions 35,514
Changes in fair value -
Sales --
Transfers
Other changes -
Balance at 31/12/12 334,386

The most significant changes in 2012 relate basically to the funds allocated to the debt service reserve
accounts by the Energy division for the projects started up in 2012 mainly in Mexico, Poland and the
US, and to one-off increases in short-term deposits.

In 2011 the main addition related principally to the funds allocated to the debt service reserve accounts
by Corporacion Acciona Eolica, SL. and Acciona Saltos de Agua, S.L. for an amount of EUR 95
million, as established in the financing agreement entered into on 7 April 2011,

Other financial assets:

Deposits and guarantees

“Deposits and Guarantees” includes a deposit made by the Compafiia Trasmediterranea subgroup to
secure its lease payments under the charter contract for the “Millenium III” vessel for a total
amount of EUR 7 million at 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: EUR 10 million).

Upon expiry of the lease in 2012, the deposit linked to the finance lease of the Super Fast Baleares
vessel was returned since the purchase option on the vessel was exercised for EUR 89 million.

The deposits pledged for the vessels were financed through a loan recognised as a non-current and a
current liability under “Bank Borrowings” in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2012.
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At 31 December 2012 and 2011, “Non-Current Operating Receivables” included mainly customer
balances and other trade receivables generated by operating activities maturing at over one year and
also the retentions that are customary in the construction business.

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, “Concessions under the Non-Current Financial Asset Model”
included the balances receivable at over one year in concessions which, in accordance with [FRIC 12,
were treated as financial assets, since there was an unconditional collection right on the investment
made unti} that date. The current portion of this unconditional collection right was recognised under
"Trade and Other Recetvables" based on the collections expected to be made by the grantors of the
concessions under the various economic and financial plans. At 31 December 2012, the balance
reclassified to short term amounted to EUR 66,200 thousand (31 December 2011: EUR 66,527
thousand) (see Note 14).

The detail, by division, of “Concessions under the Non-Current Financial Asset Model" is as follows:

2012 2011
Infrastructure division 169,392 228,535
Urban and Environmental Services division 44,165 47,202
Total 313,557 275,737

The main concession projects included in the Infrastructure division relate to hospitals and toll roads,
and those in the Urban Services division relate to the integral water cycle.

The change in 2012 relates to the net effect of, on the one hand, the increase in the balance of the
concessions in accordance with the stage of completion of the work basically relating to the
concessions under construction, and on the other hand, the transfer of a concession operator to "Non-
Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale" (see Note 24) and the transfer and classification to "Trade
and Other Receivables - Concessions under the Current Financial Asset Model” of the amount
expected to be collected by the grantors in the coming twelve months.

At 31 December 2012, EUR 94,603 thousand (31 December 2011: EUR 64,125 thousand) of
concessions under the financial asset model were classified under “Non-Current Assets Classified as
Held for Sale” and related to the mature concessions that, as indicated in Note 24, were classified as
such.

At 31 December 2012, the Group companies had commitments to acquire concession assets under the

financial asset model amounting to EUR 85 million, most of which related to concession arrangements
recently granted to the Infrastructure division (31 December 2011; EUR 166 million).

13.- Inventories

The detail of the Group's inventories at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows (in thousands of
euros):
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2012 2011

State 119,226 138,593
Autonomous Community Governments 31,916 32,091
Municipal councils 23,358 46,456
Other 331,682 462,984

Public-sector subtotal 506,182 680,124

Private-secior subtotal 141,168 155,932
Total Spanish customers 647,350 836,056
Total foreign customers 428,952 340,811

15.- Cash and cash equivalenis

The detail of “Cash and Cash Equivalents” at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

2012 2011
Cash 935,613 884,634
Deposits and other 260,492 657,144
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,196,105 1,541,778

“Cash and Cash Equivalents” includes mainly the Group's cash, bank deposits and risk-free deposits
with initial maturity of three months or less.

In 2012 and 2011 the cash and cash equivalent balances earned interest at market rates.

16.- Equity

a) Registered share capital

The Parent's share capital consists of 57,259,550 fully paid ordinary shares of EUR 1 par value each,
represented by book entries. All the Parent’s shares carry the same rights, are listed and there are no
bylaw restrictions as to their transferability.

Effective from 6 June 2012, the Board of Directors of Acciona, S A. resolved to reduce capital by
EUR 6,290,450 through the retirement of 6,290,450 treasury shares. This resolution to reduce capital
was approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 2012.

Following 1s a detail, based on the notifications received by the Company, of the owners of significant
direct and indirect equity interests at 31 December 2012 and 2011;
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31/12/12 3112/11

Tussen de Grachten, BV 27.80% 25.05%
Entreazca, BV 27.43% 24.72%
Jelico Netherlands, BV 3.50% 3.16%

b) Share premium and reserves

The balance of the "Share Premium" account, which at 31 December 2012 and 2011 amounted to EUR
170,110 thousand, arose as a result of the capital increases with share premiums carried out on various
dates. The Consolidated Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law expressly permits the use of the
share premium account balance to increase capital and does not establish any specific restrictions as to
1ts use.

The detail of the share premium, reserves and valuation adjustments in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity is as follows:

2012 2011
Share premium 170,110 170,110
Revaluation reserves - -
Legal reserve 11,452 13,248
Reserve for retired capital 10,453 4,163
Voluntary reserves 3,605,260 4,067,522
Reserve for treasury shares - -
Consolidated reserves 1,077,056 1,210,851
Subtotal reserves 4,794,230 5,295,794
Translation differences 22,828 23,629
Total reserves 4,817,058 5,319,423

The legal reserve, to which transfers must be made until it reaches 20% of the share capital, can be
used to increase capital provided that the remaining reserve balance does not fall below 10% of the
increased share capital amount. Otherwise, until the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital, it can
only be used to offset losses, provided that sufficient other reserves are not available for this purpose.

c) Treasury shares

The changes in 2012 and 2011 in treasury shares were as follows:
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2012 2011

Number of Cost Number of Cost
shares shares
Beginning balance 5,598,867 411,129 3,287,669 263,672
Additions 911,587 47,992 2,379,616 154,565
Reductions due to retirement of shares (6,290,450) (446,54%) - -
Other disposals (111,223} (8.,466) (68.418) (7,108)
Ending balance 108,781 4,107 5,598,867 411,129

In 2012 a total of 6,290,450 treasury shares were retired with an impact on reserves of EUR 440,258
thousand and a related EUR 6,290 thousand reduction in share capital due to the capital reduction
approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 2012 (see Note 16-a).

In 2012 there was a reduction of 111,223 shares, with a EUR 2,256 thousand loss recognised in
reserves, due mainly to the delivery of shares to senior management under the Share Grant Plan

approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (see Note 35).

d) Reserves of consolidated companies and translation differences

The detail, by line of business, of the consolidation reserves contributed by subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates and of the related translation differences at 31 December 2012 and 2011 1s as follows
(in thousands of euros):

2012 2011
Consolidated Translation Consolidated Translation

Line of business rescrves differences reserves differences
Infrastructure 375,535 (2,153) 244,227 {1,886)
Real Estate (115,896) (5,633 (46,813) (11,236)
Energy 509,897 29,263 515,864 36,278
Logistics and Transport
Services (57.,893) 679 (23,918) 408
Urban and
Environmental Services 30,545 (521) 3251 368
Other Businesses 380,736 1,193 535,890 (303)
Consolidation
adjustments (45,868) - (46,900) -
Total 1,077,056 22,828 1,210,861 23,629
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A breakdown, by company, of the consolidation reserves at fully and proportionately consolidated
companies and at companies accounted for using the equity method and of the related translation
differences at 31 December 2012 is provided in Appendix V.

In addition to the Parent, at 31 December 2012 the Group company Mostostal Warszawa, S.A. was a
listed company. The average market price of this company in the last quarter was PLN 12.78 and the

market price at year-end was PLN 12.55.

e) Valuation adjustments

= Available-for-sale financial assets

This heading under “Retained Earnings™ in the consolidated balance sheet includes the amount, net of
the related tax effect, of changes in the fair value of assets classified as available for sale. These
changes are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the assets that give rise to them are
sold.

The changes in the balance of “Valuation Adjustments - Available-for-Sale Financial Assets” in 2012
and 2011 were as follows:

2012 2011
Balance at | January 12,123 10,604
Increases in value in the year - 1,519
Decreases in value in the year (1,192)
Transfer due to changes in the scope of consolidation
Balance at 31 Decemher 10,931 12,123

The changes in 2012 and 2011 relate almost entirely to the change in value of the investment in Bolsas
y Mercados Espaiioles.

* (Cash flow hedges
This heading under “Retained Earnings” in the consolidated balance sheet includes the amount net of
the tax effect of changes in the fair value of financial derivatives designated as cash flow hedging

instruments (see Note 20).

The changes in the balance of this item in 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

- Pag. 70 -












b) At 31 December 2012, the Group had recognised a provision of EUR 46 million (31 December
2011: EUR 43 million) for certain liabilities relating to the Logistics division, mainly arising from
three penalties imposed by the Spanish National Competition Commission and currently under appeal.

¢) Provisions for autonomous community, State or international levies, taxes and local taxes arising
from construction work and infrastructure development and taxes in general which, in view of the
varying interpretations that can be made of the tax legislation, could give rise to contingent tax
liabilities in the various countries in which the Acciona Group operates. At 31 December 2012, the
provision in this connection amounted to EUR 61 million (31 December 2011: EUR 67 million).

d) Provisions for the amounts estimated in relation to warranty and maintenance obligations for
facilities and machinery sold, mainly WTGSs in the Energy division. At 31 December 2012, the
provision in this connection amounted to EUR 12 million (31 December 2011: EUR 18 million).

e) Provisions for pensions and similar obligations arising mainly from the acquisition of assets from
Endesa in 2009, which are detailed and quantified below. At 31 December 2012, the provision in this
connection amounted to EUR 7 million (31 December 2011: EUR 8 million).

f) The remaining amount recognised under "Provisions" relates to various types of provisions,
including those related to obligations acquired in the development and construction of drinking water
plants and water cycle service infrastructure, those recognised to cover the possible risks arising from
litigation in progress since claims have been filed against the Group in relation to its construction
activities {(mainly in relation to residential work), those relating to construction contracts and the
provision of onerous services in which losses are incurred and provisions for non-core businesses.
These provisions were recognised on the basis of the best estimates of the risks and uncertainties
which, inevitably, surround most of the events and circumstances related thereto. In this respect, the
negative performance of the general market situation in the last few years, as well as the economic and
financial conditions of many of the countries in which the Group operates, has given rise to great
instability in general with a widespread impact and severe uncertainty, which has not only continued
but in fact worsened 1n the recent years. In light of this situation, the measurement of uncertainty was
carried out with prudence and a certain degree of precaution was taken in the making of necessary
judgements, while preserving the fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Group management considers that no additional liabilities not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements at 31 December 2012 and 2011 will arise.
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iii)

2012 2011

Beginning actuarial lability 2,188 2,167
Rate of return in the year 99 78
Contributions made in the year 117 172
Acluarial gains and losses {319) (229)
Ending actuarial asset 2,085 2,188

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the ending total of the actuarial assets and liabilities related in
full to defined benefit obligations in Spain.

At 2012 vear-end the amount recognised in the consolidated income statement for defined
benefit pension obligations amounted to EUR 130 thousand (2011 year-end: EUR 175
thousand) and related to the cost incurred during the year and the return and finance cost of the
assets and liabilities associated with these employee welfare benefits.

Defined contribution plan. The contributions made are recognised under “Staff Costs” in the
accompanying consolidated income statement. EUR 224 thousand were recognised in this
connection in 2012 (2011: EUR 307 thousand).

Obligations to provide certain employee welfare benefits during the retirement period, relating
mainly to electricity supplies. These obligations were not externalised and are covered by the
related in-house provisions totalling EUR 2,177 thousand at 31 December 2012 (31 December
2011: EUR 2,063 thousand).

The actuarial changes arising in this connection gave rise to a loss of EUR 41 thousand in 2012
(2011: EUR 263 thousand).

The Group's obligation to supplement the public social security system benefits in the event of
termination of the employment relationship as a result of an agreement between the parties.

The changes in the provision for these obligations, recognised under "Provisions" in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets in 2012 and 2011, were as follows:
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Mexican pesos, the WIBOR for financing in Polish zloty and the BBSY for financing in Australian
dollars; these are the most important indexes for the Group outside of the eurozone.

A significant portion of the Group's borrowings is hedged by financial derivatives which seek to
reduce the volatility in the interest rates which the Acciona Group pays. Specifically, the percentage of
borrowings not subject to interest rate volatility remained virtually constant, falling slightly from
61.6% in 2011 to 59.8% in 2012.

In 2012 there were no significant changes in bank borrowings. At the Energy, Infrastructures and
Water divisions, the Acciona Group continues to use project finance arrangements on an ongoing basis
as the basic structure for financing of the Group's investments. In 2012 project financing was arranged
in Spain, Mexico, Canada, Australia and the United States. The main characteristics of this type of
financing is described in Note 3.2-i.

At 31 December 2012, the Group companies had additional undrawn financing of EUR 1,052,351
thousand, of which EUR 912,698 thousand related to working capital financing credit facilities. Group
management considers that the amount of these credit facilities and the cash generated in the course of
ordinary operations, together with the current assets, sufficiently covers the Group's short-term
payment obligations.

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, neither Acciona, S.A. nor any of its significant subsidiaries were
breaching any of their financial or other obligations in such a way as might give rise to the early
maturity of their financial obligations. Also, no breaches are foreseen for 2013,

In 2012 and 2011 there were no defaults or other non-payments of principal, interest or repayments of
bank borrowings. The Real Estate division classifies its borrowings as current liabilities based on the
production cycle of the assets they finance, namely inventories, even though some of these liabilities

mature at more than twelve months,

The detail, by maturity, of non-current bank borrowings and non-current debt instruments and other
marketable securtties (see Note 21) for the five years following the reporting date is as follows:

2014 2015 2016 2017 Subsequent years Total

900,534 809,693 787,559 404,003 4,036,992 6,938,781

Obligations under finance leases

The detail of the Group's finance leases at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:
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Based on the Acciona Group's projections of the trend in interest rates and of debt structure targets,
hedging transactions are carried out by arranging derivatives that mitigate these risks. The level of
debt hedged in each project depends on the type of project in question and the country in which the
investment is made.

The reference interest rate for the borrowings arranged by the Acciona Group companies is mainly
Euribor for transactions denominated in euros and Libor for transactions denominated in US doilars.
The borrowings arranged for projects in Latin America are normally tied to the local indexes
customarily used in the local banking industry.

Sensitivity test on derivatives and debt

The financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk are basically borrowings arranged at
floating interest rates and derivative financial instruments.

In order to be able to analyse the effect that a possible fluctuation in interest rates might have on the
Group's financial statements, a simulation was performed which assumed a 50-basis point increase and
decrease in interest rates at 31 December 2012.

The analysis of sensitivity to upward or downward changes of 0.50% in floating Euribor interest rates
gave rise to a sensitivity in the Group’s consolidated income statement arising from an increase or
decrease in financial results due to interest payments of EUR 14,968 thousand at 31 December 2012.

The analysis of the sensitivity to upward or downward changes in the long-term interest rate curve in
relation to the fair value of interest rate derivatives included in cash flow hedges arranged by the Group
at 31 December 2012 and irrespective of the consolidation method used, would give rise -based on the
Acciona Group's percentage of ownership in each company- to a decrease in liabilities for financial
derivative of EUR 149,774 thousand vis-a-vis a 0.5% increase in the interest rate curve. Similarly, a
0.1% decrease in the interest rate curve would lead to an increase of EUR 31,090 thousand in liabilities
for financial derivatives,

Foreign currency risk

The Group is immersed in a process of growing internationalisation which gives rise to exposure to
foreign currency risk involving transactions in the currencies of the countries in which it invests and
operates.

Management of this risk is the responsibility of the Group's Economic and Financial Department,
which follows a policy of non-speculative hedging.

Foreign currency risk relates basically to the following transactic =~
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- Debt denominated in foreign currencies arranged by Group companies and associates.
- Payments to be made in international markets for procurements, mainly fuel.
- Receivables tied mainly to the performance of currencies other than the euro.

In order to mitigate foreign currency risk, the Acciona Group uses currency derivatives and foreign
currency hedges to cover significant future transactions and cash flows, in keeping with acceptable
risk limits. At other times, non-current assets in currencies other than the euro are financed in the same
currency as that in which the asset 1s denominated.

Also, the net assets relating to net investments in foreign operations whose functional currency is not
the euro are exposed to foreign currency risk in the translation of the financial statements of these

foreign operations on consolidation.

Procurement price risk

The Acciona Group is exposed to fluctuations in the price of procurements, mainly fuel in its sea
transportation business and, to a lesser degree, raw materials in its biofuel production business, when
such fluctuations cannot be passed on to its customers.

Most fuel purchase transactions are carried out in international markets.

Fluctuations in procurement prices are managed through short-term measures, i.e. within one year,
which is considered to be the normal period for the implementation of the appropriate commercial
policies. The risk is managed by arranging specific hedges, generally in the form of derivatives, to
maintain the economic balance of the procurements.

Fluctuations in procurement prices are managed at short and medium term through specific hedging
transactions, generally using derivatives.

The Group performed a sensitivity analysis in relation to the possible changes in fuel prices. Based on
this analysis it was estimated that a 5% change in prices would have an effect on 2013 profit of
approximately EUR 4 million,

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a contract does not meet its obligations, giving rise to a
financial loss for the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only trading with solvent third parties
and obtaining sufficient guarantees to mitigate the risk of financial loss in the event of non-
compliance. The Group only trades with entities rated at the same or higher investment level as the
Group and obtains information on its counterparties through independent company valuation
agencies, other public sources of financial information or the information it obtains from its own
relationships with customers.
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Notes receivable and trade receivables relate to a large number of customers spread over different
industries and geographical areas. Credit relationships with customers and their solvency are assessed
on an ongoing basis and credit guarantee insurance is arranged when it 1s considered necessary. The
Group assesses non-payment risk prior to entering into contracts with public and private customers
(basically in the infrastructure business). This assessment includes both a solvency study and
supervision of contractual requirements from a financial and legal guarantee viewpoint. During the
course of the projects, the correct performance of the debt is monitored constantly, and the related
value adjustments are made using accounting criteria.

The Group does not have significant exposure to credit risk with any of its customers or groups of
customers with similar characteristics. Similarly, credit risk concentration is not significant.

The credit and liquidity risk of derivative instruments with a positive value is limited by the Acciona
Group, since both cash placements and the arrangement of derivatives are made with highly solvent
counterparties with high credit ratings and no counterparty has significant levels of total credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Acciona Group manages liquidity risk prudently by ensuring that it has sufficient cash and
marketable securities and by arranging committed credit facilities for amounts sufficient to cater for its
projected requirements.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management lies with Economic and Financial Department,
which prepares the appropriate framework to control the Group’s liquidity requirements at short,
medium and long term. The Group manages liquidity risk by holding adequate reserves, providing
appropriate banking services, having available loans and credit facilities, monitoring projected and
actual cash flows on an ongoing basis and pairing them against financial asset and liability matunty
profiles.

Economic risk vs. budget variances

The Group has an overall system of economic and budget control for each business, adapted to each
activity, which provides those responsible for each business with the necessary information and allows
them to control potential risks and make the most appropriate management decisions. The economic
and financial information generated within each division is periodically compared with the projected
data and indicators, variances regarding business volume, profitability, cash flows and other relevant
and reliable parameters are assessed and, where necessary, the appropriate corrective measures are
taken.
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contested basis, since the Parent considered that there were no legal grounds for the assessments. In
particular, the tax authorities did not accept the policy of recognising the resuits of the UTEs in the
year in which the financial statements were approved. Economic-administrative appeals were filed
against the tax assessments at the Central Economic-Administrative Tribunal (TEAC), requesting, in
the alternative, that should the stance adopted by the Spanish tax authorities be upheld, the refund of
the tax unduly paid arising from the tax return for 2003 - relating to the results of the UTEs for 2002
reported by the Parent in that year- be acknowledged ex officio through its ex officio offset against the
tax deficiency claimed in the 2002 assessment.

On 12 February 2009, the TEAC notified the Group of its decision dated 29 January 2009 whereby,
inter alia, it dismissed the appeal relating to the deferral of recognition of the unincorporated
temporary joint ventures' results to subsequent years, although it upheld the pleas relating to the
exclusion from the 2000 taxable profit (loss) of the results of the UTEs for 1999, since that year was
statute-barred.

On 8 April 2009, the Company filed an appeal for judicial review at the National Appellate Court
against this decision of the TEAC, since it considered that the partial dismissal of the claims was
harmful to its interests, and accepted the tax authorities' stance that under current legisiation the results
of the UTEs could not be deferred until 2003.

On 28 December 2011, the National Appellate Court issued a decision partially upholding the appeal
for judicial review filed, rendered void the penaities and dismissing the rest, without making any
special mention to the costs. Taking into consideration the fact that the Group's appeals were very
unlikely to be successful and that the amount of the assessments is not significant, Group management
decided not to lodge a cassation appeal at the Supreme Court.

In June 2012 the payment documents were served and the related payment settled on 4 July 2012. On
16 November the deferred interest outstanding from 2000 and 2001 was settled and all the guarantees
provided were cancelled.

On 19 June 2009, the tax audits initiated in February 2008 in relation to income tax for 2003 to 2005
were completed. The tax assessments issued for 2003 and 2004 were signed on an uncontested basis
and that for 2005 was signed on a partially contested basis. On 20 August 2009, an economic-
administrative appeal was filed at the TEAC against the partiaily contested assessment for 2005.

On 19 May 2011, the TEAC notified the Group of its decision of 10 May 2009 whereby it dismissed
the claims filed, upholding the tax assessment and the penalty that had been appealed. On 15 July

2011, the Company filed an appeal for judicial review at the National Appellate Court against the
decision handed down by the TEAC.

The tax audits also included the review of other taxes of the companies belonging to the tax group,
which concluded with the corresponding tax assessments being signed on an uncontested basis.
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On 11 July 2012, the Company filed a formal statement of claim and the related pleadings at the
National Appellate Court.

On 10 March 2012, tax audits were initiated in relation to income tax for 2007-2009 by the inspection
services of the Central Large Taxpayers Office. In addition to the review of the tax Group's income tax
for those years, the Group's entities were reviewed in relation to VAT for 2008 and 2009 and to other
taxes for 2008 and 2009 of the Group companies included in the review.

The directors of Acciona, S.A. consider that the liabilities that might arise from these open audits
would not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements for 2012 taken as a whole.

At 31 December 2012, the non-statute-barred years which had not been reviewed were being reviewed
by the tax authonties for income tax and for the other main taxes applicable to the companies in the
consolidated tax group. In general, the other Spanish consolidated companies have the last four years
open for review by the tax authorities for the main taxes applicable to them.

In view of the varying interpretations that can be made of the applicable tax legislation, the outcome of
the tax audits of the open years that could be conducted by the tax authorities in the future could give
rise to tax liabilities which cannot be objectively quantified at the present time. However, the
possibility of material liabilities arising in this connection additional to those already recognised is
remote.

Tax receivables and pavables

The detail of the tax receivables and payables at 31 December is as follows:
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Last year for offset Amount

2016 858
2017 1,547
2018 1.321
2019 3,123
2020 3,308
2021 7.404
2022 8,778
2023 678
2024 374
2025 25,303
2026 94,795
2027 10,031
Total 157,520

The unused tax credits relate mainly to those earned by the tax Group of which Acciona, S.A. is the
parent. At 31 December 2012 the most significant unused tax credits were as follows: double taxation
tax credits amounting to EUR 10,105 thousand; tax credits for the reinvestment of extraordinary
income amounting to EUR 64,767 thousand; R&D+i tax credits amounting to EUR 69,993 thousand;
and environmental tax credits amounting to EUR 11,400 thousand.

At 2012 year-end the last year for deduction of the unused tax credits recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet of the Acciona Group were as follows (in thousands of euros).

Amount Period ‘l'or

dednction

Acciona, 5.A 1ax group 173,667 2019 - 2030
Spanish companies cutside tax group and other 3,676
Total 177,343

At year-end there were no material unrecognised unused tax credits.

The Acciona Group expects to recover the tax loss and tax credit carryforwards recognised through the
companies’ ordinary activities without any risk of losses.

Most of the deferred tax assets included in “Other” relate to unification adjustments made in the
consolidation process, such as eliminations of internal margins, and the application of other countries’
specific legislation.

The deferred tax liabilities included in “Other” arose mainly due to the accelerated depreciation
provided for in Additional Provision Eleven introduced in Legislative Royal Decree 4/2004
(Consolidated Spanish Corporation Tax Law) by Law 2/2008, of 23 December. The total amounts
arising from this incentive applied by the tax group companies were EUR 128,966 thousand in 2012
and EUR 122,586 thousand in 2011. “Other” also includes the effect of accelerated depreciation and
the application of specific legislation of other countries.
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In relation to the assets which at 31 December 2012 were still classified under this heading, in 2011
circumstances arose which had previously been considered improbable and, as a result, the sales plans
could not be completed at the end of the period. Nevertheless, Group management remains committed
to the sales plans and all of the assets are actively being marketed at a fair price, higher than their
carrying amounts. Accordingly, it is considered highly probable that they will be sold within the
coming twelve months.

25.- Guarantee commitments to third parties

At 31 December 2012, the companies had provided guarantees of EUR 2,676,858 thousand to third
parties to customers, public agencies and financial institutions (2011: EUR 2,671,647 thousand).

Most of the guarantees provided were construction project performance bonds arranged by the
Infrastructure division. The companies consider that the liabilities, if any, that might arise from the
guarantees provided would not be material.

26.- Income

The detail of the Group's revenue is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2012 2011
Infrastructure 3,326,269 3,521,934
Real Estate 67,748 104,214
Energy 2,106,629 1,649,922
Logistics and Trangport Services 706,163 713,838
Urban and Environmental Services 815,368 697,316
(Other Businesses 139,719 135,419
Consolidation adjustments (145,936) (176,648)
Total revenue 7,015,960 6,645,995

The breakdown, by geographical area, of the Group companies' total production is as follows (in
thousands of euros):
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Tt reakdown of the Group's employees by line of business is as follows:

2012 2011 Change
Infrastructara 15,199 14,464 735
Real Estate 139 212 (73)
Energy 2,331 2,277 54
Logistics and Transport Services 3,870 4,337 (467)
Urban and Environmental Services 10,743 9,956 787
Other Businesses 623 611 12
Tolal average number of employees 32,905 31,857 1,048

T  iverage number of employees, in 2012 and 2011, by line of business and gender, was as follows:

2012 2011
Men Women Total Men Women Total
Infrastructure 12,865 2,334 15,199 12,214 2,250 14,464
Real Estate 59 80 139 109 103 213
Energy 1,771 560 2,331 1,721 556 2,276
Logistics and Transport Services 2,976 204 3.870 3379 958 4,336
Urhan and Environmental Services 6,638 4,105 10,743 6,261 3,695 9,957
(Onher Businesses 346 277 623 349 262 611
Total average numher of employees 24,655 8,250 32,905 24,033 7,824 31,857

In 112 263 of the total headcount were employees of the Parent (2011: 249) and the remainder were
G:  ip subsidiary personnel.

In agust 2012 the Group company Acciona Infraestructuras, S.A. entered into an agreement with the
w ers' representatives to implement a collective redundancy procedure. The related accounting
ef t was properly recognised in the consolidated income statement in accordance with current
ac anting legislation.

At 31 December 2012, the consolidated companies had an average number of 639 direct or indirect
employees with a disability level of 33% or over. Law 13/1982, of 7 April, on the Social Integration of
P¢  ns with Disabilities (LISMI) establishes a minimum quota of 2% for the recruitment of disabled
pe ms in companies with more than 50 employees. 2.88% of the Group's headcount in 2011 related
to sabled persons.

QO  ating leases:
“Other External Expenses - Leases” in the accompanying consolidated income statement includes

nc Hly the costs incurred by the Compaifiia Trasmediterranea Subgroup for the charter of other
sh ing companies' vessels and cargo decks totalling EUR 27 million (2011: EUR 24 million).
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30.- Proposed distribution of profit

The distribution of Acciona, S.A's profit for 2012 and 2011, which, in the case of 2011, was approved
by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and, in the case of 2012, will be proposed by the
Board of Directors for approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, is as follows (in
euros):

2012 2011

Distribution basis:

Acciona, 8.A. profit 178,099,628.77 226,493,862.00
Distribution:

To legal reserve -~ --
To bylaw reserve 17.809,962.88 22,649,386.20
To voluntary raserves 8,551,858.39 13,154,475.80
Dividends 151,737,807.50 190,650,000.00
Taotal 178,099,628.77 226,493,862.00

Under its bylaws, Acciona, S.A. must in any case allocate 10% of net profit to the legal and bylaw
reserves, Once the balance of the legal reserve has reached 20% of the share capital, any remaining
portion of the 10% of net profit must be transferred to the bylaw reserve. This reserve is unrestricted.

31.- Environmental matters

In 2012 ACCIONA promoted the implementation of initiatives aimed at reducing and offsetting its
planetary footprint, steadfastly maintaining its objective of being a benchmark for environmental
protection, which fulfils its objectives and commitments in this area and remains fully committed to
ongoing improvement in its environmental performance.

This reflects the economic effort undertaken by the Company in this area. Accordingly, in 2012
ACCIONA earmarked more than EUR 713 million for environmental activity. Environmental
expenses and investments amounted to EUR 70.2 million and EUR 1.1 million, respectively.

The environmental aggregates, by business line, are as follows:

A) ENERGY. In addition to the costs incurred in the installation of its wind farms and other
renewable energy production plants, in 2012 the Group incurred expenses of EUR 14.9 million
(2011: EUR 20 million) in relation to environmental issues. Also, in 2012 investments of EUR

0.5 million were made in projects specifically designed to protect and enhance the environment
(2011: EUR 1.4 thousand).

B)  INFRASTRUCTURE. The environmental activity expenses recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement amounted to EUR 45.6 thousand in 2012 (2011: EUR 34.9
thousand) and investments amounted to EUR 0.1 million.
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C) WATER AND ENVIRONMENT. The environmental activity expenses recognised directly in
the 2012 consolidated income statement amounted to EUR 5.6 thousand (2011: EUR 5.0
million). Investments made in 2012 amounted to EUR 0.5 million (EUR 1.8 million in 2011).

D)  LOGISTICS AND TRANSPORT SERVICES. Expenses of an environmental nature in 2012
amounted to EUR 2.8 million (2011: EUR 4.7 million).

In 2012 Acciona Trasmediterranea was granted a reduction in its levies as a result of the
improvements in environmental conditions, beyond the requirements of the applicable
legislation. Compliance with these requirements was verified using an environmental
management system. This reduction in the levies for port concessions/facility activities
amounted to EUR 0.3 million.

E) OTHER BUSINESSES. The environmental activity expenses recognised directly in the 2012
consolidated income statement amounted to EUR 1.3 million (2011: EUR 1.7 million).

32.- Earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share coincide with basic earnings per share, the detail being as follows:

2012 2011
Net profit for the year (thousands of euros) 189,401 202,062
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 57,334,562 59,447,596
Basic earnings per share (euros) 3.30 3.40

33.- Events after the reporting period

- Management of the Ter-Llobregat (ATLL) capture point network water supply services was
awarded to the consortium in which the Acciona Group has an ownership interest as a result of the
resolution of the Catalonia Autonomous Community Government dated 6 November 2012 (see Note
8). On 23 November 2012, a special appeal was lodged against the contract relating to this award by
the Barcelona General Water Company (SGAB). In the proceedings presided over by the Catalonia
Administrative Body for Contractual Appeals (OARCC), the suspension of this contract was lifted on
30 November 2012. Had this not occurred, the administrative contract could not have been executed.

On 27 December 2012, after the transaction was authorised by the Spanish Competition Commission
(CNC), the administrative contract was entered into by the Catalonia Autonomous Community
Government and Concesionario ATTL (a company in which Acciona holds a 39% ownership interest),
with the first payment of the fees made of EUR 298,651,830.

Concesionaria ATLL began to provide the service on 1 January 2013,
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On 2 January 2013, the OARCC handed down a resolution upholding the special appeal lodged by
SGAB and declaring Acciona excluded from the tender.

In response to the OARCC's resolution, numerous appeals for judicial review and requests for
injunctive relief have been filed, as follows:

(a) Appeal for judicial review against the administrative contract, filed by SGAB against the execution
of the contract. Injunctive relief is pending court order.

(b) Appeal for judicial review against the OARCC's judgement, filed by the Catalonia Autonomous
Community Government. Injunctive relief is pending resolution.

(c) Appeal for judicial review against the OARCC's judgement, filed by Acciona Agua S.A., Aiglies
de Catalunya, S.A. and Concesionaria ATLL.

It is important to note that the only reason the OARCC upheld the special appeal against the contract
filed by SGAB was due to the supposed discrimination SGAB would have suffered in the event that
the offer, made by the consortium of which the Acciona Group forms a part, changed certatn deadiines
in the schedule of works set forth in the tender specifications contained in Appendix 9. Both the
Catalonia Autonomous Community Government and the legal advisors of the consortium members
and Concesionaria ATLL consider the OARCC's resolution to be unfounded, as there are sufficient
legal grounds to reasonably expect that the proceedings be resolved with judgments favourable to their
Imterests.

In the event that such a situation leads to the cancellation and termination of the contract, the
consortium which was awarded the tender would be required to discontinue services and return the
facilities. In any event, the public authorities would be required to compensate the concession-holder
for all the damage and losses caused, including the return of the unamortised portion of the fees.

- On 10 January 2013, the Board of Directors of ACCIONA, S.A. approved the distribution of
EUR 0.9 gross per share as an interim dividend to be approved with a charge to 2012 profit by the
shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting,

The interim dividend payable totals EUR 51,533,595, The appropriate tax withholdings payable are
deducted from this amount. The dividend was paid on 21 January 2013.

- On 17 January 2013, Acciona formally executed a Euro Commercial Paper programme (ECP)
for a maximum of EUR 500 million, which was registered on the Irish Stock Exchange. Through this
programme, the Group may issue notes on the Euromarket maturing between 15 and 364 days.

- As discussed in "Regulatory Framework for the Energy Division" in Note 2.1 to these
consolidated financial statements, on 1 February 2013, Royal Decree-Law 2/2013, of 1 February, on
urgent measures in the electricity industry, was approved. This Royal Decree-Law, retrospectively
applicable since 1 January 2013, established a zero value for the premiums for all technologies and
eliminated the caps and floors for the option to sell electricity in the market but retained the option to
sell electricity at the regulated tariff. It also modified the coefficient for the annual increases in those
tariffs, which are now linked to underlying inflation rather than the increase in the CPIL.
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35.- Remuneration and other benefits

A Directors

The detail of the remuneration received in 2012 by the Parent's Board members from all the Group
companies of which they are directors is included in this Note (in euros).

Article 31.2 of the Company's bylaws stipulates that the annual remuneration payable to the Board of
Directors will be 5% of profit, after allocation of the items referred to in Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of
Article 47.2 of these bylaws, unless the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, on approving the
financial statements and at the proposal of the Board of Directors, determine a lower percentage. The
remuneration is distributed among the directors in the proportion agreed upon by the Board.

Subject to approval by the shareholders at a General Meeting with the legally required quorum, the
executive directors may also be remunerated through the delivery of shares or share options, or any
other remuneration system linked to the share price.

Pursuant to Article 55 of the Board Regulations, the Board of Directors determines the system for the
distribution of the directors' remuneration within the framework established by the bylaws.

Its decision will take into account the report issued in this connection by the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee.

The Board of Directors will endeavour to compensate the directors moderately and at levels
comparable to those customary in the market at companies of a similar size and business activity,
opting preferably for systems in which a significant portion of the remuneration is linked to the
directors' commitment to Acciona.

The Board of Directors will also ensure that the remuneration policies in force at any time include, in
the case of variable remuneration, the technical precautions required to guarantee that such
remuneration is in line with the professional performance of the beneficiaries thereof and does not
merely derive from the general performance of the markets or the company’s field of activity or other
similar circumstances. The remuneration system will assign similar remuneration to comparable
functions and levels of commitment.

The remuneration of proprietary directors for discharging their duties as directors must be
commensurate with that of the other directors and shall not constitute preferential treatment in the
remuneration of the shareholder that designated them.

For the executive directors, the remuneration for Board membership will be compatible with any other
professional or employment-related payments received by them for the executive or advisory duties

they discharge at Acciona, S.A. or within the Acciona Group.

The directors' remuneration will be transparent.
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e) For each director belonging to the Sustainability Committee, EUR 40,000.
f) For the position of Independent Deputy Chairman, EUR 25,000.

The foregoing amounts were applied from the second half of 2009 in cases where no changes had
arisen between 2005 and 2008. After a detailed analysis of the remuneration received at international
companies and companies on the Spanish Stock Exchange's IBEX 35 index, the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee considered that the remuneration was in accordance with that paid in the
market at companies of a similar size engaging in similar activities, that the remuneration paid was
similar to that for comparable duties and dedication and that, without compromising the directors'
independence, it provided sufficient motivation to ensure their closer involvement, if possible, on the
various committees.

The total remuneration earned in the year by the directors at the Parent was as follows (in thousands of
euros):

Type of remuneration 2012 2011
Fixed remuneration 1,530 1,532
Variable remuneration 4,400 4,441
Attendance fees 1,670 1,695
Bylaw-stipulated directors' emoluments - -
Share options and/or other financial instruments 153 227
Other - -
Total 1,753 7,895

The directors who discharged executive duties in 2012 received as part of their variable remuneration
a total of 3,371 shares and 9,995 options on Acciona, S.A. shares under the terms established in the
regulations governing Acciona’s 2009-2013 Share and Option Plan for its senior executives. The
options granted entitle the beneficiary to acquire the same number of shares at a price per share of
EUR 66.73.

In 2012 and 2011 the directors of the Parent received no remuneration whatsoever for their
membership of other boards and/or for discharging senior executive functions at Group companies.

The total remuneration paid by the Acciona Group, by type of director, was as follows (in thousands
of euros):

2012 2011
Type of dircctor Company Group Company Group
Exceutive directors 6,233 - 6.350 —
Non-executive proprietary directors 190 - 199 -
Non-executive independent directors 1,115 - 1,140 -
Other non-executive directors 215 - 215 -
Total 7,753 -- 7,895 —
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Accordingly, the directors’ remuneration totalled EUR 7,753 thousand and EUR 7,895 thousand at 31
December 2012 and 2011, respectively, accounting for 4.1% and 3.91% of the profit attributable to the
Parent in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In particular, the total fixed and variable remuneration received by the directors for discharging
executive duties amounted to EUR 5,930 thousand, which represents 3.1% of the profit attributable to
the Parent.

There were no pension or life insurance premium payment obligations to the former or current
members of the Board of Directors. Except as indicated in this note, no advances, loans or guarantees

were granted to members of the Board of Directors.

B. Senior executives

The remuneration of the Company's General Managers and persons discharging similar duties -
excluding those who are simultaneously members of the Board of Directors (whose remuneration is
disclosed above)- in 2012 and 2011 is summarised as follows:

Type of remuncration 2012 2011
Number of persons 38 38
Remuneration (thousands of euros) 22,677 22,889

Total remuneration paid to senior executives in 2012 includes the amount relating to the termination
benefits paid to five directors arising from the termination of the employment relationship in 2012.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 4 June 2009, the shareholders of Acciona, S.A. approved the
2009-2011 Share and Option Plan for the senior executives of Acciona and its Group. Also, at the
Annual General Meeting held on 9 June 2011, the shareholders approved the extension of the period
of the aforementioned Plan's duration, including the Executive Directors, for its application in 2012,
increasing the maximum number of shares deliverable under the Plan from the 200,000 shares
established to 265,000 shares for the four-year period, while maintaining the other terms and
conditions approved. The shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 2012 resolved
to extend the period for its application in 2013, setting the maximum number of shares deliverable for
the 2009-2013 period at 300,000.

The main features of the 2009-2013 Share and Option Plan for the senior executives of Acciona and
its Group are as follows:

Plan duration and basic structure: Five years, with annual delivery of ordinary Acciona, S.A.
(Company) shares during these five years (2009 to 2013). The beneficiaries may elect to exchange
some of the shares assigned to them for purchase option rights on the Company's ordinary shares.
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Beneficiaries: those persons who, at the time the shares are allocated, hold the position of Chief
Executive Officer, General Manager or Area Manager of the Acciona Group.

Annual share-based bonus. The number of shares composing the share-based bonus for each
beneficiary will be determined by the Company's Board of Directors at the proposal of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee in March of each year. The share-based bonus of each beneficiary
cannot exceed (a) EUR 150,000 or (b) 50% of the beneficiary’s annual variable cash remuneration.
The highest share-based bonus in a given year cannot exceed three times the value of the lowest bonus
for that year.

Share/option exchange ratio and partial substitution of shares by options and vice versa. Once
the annual share-based bonus is established, the Company's Board of Directors will establish a fixed
share/option exchange ratio. The beneficiary may decide to substitute a portion of the shares assigned,
not exceeding fifty per cent (50%), by options.

Shares available for the Plan: the maximum number of shares that can be delivered under the
Plan over the five-year period (2009, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013) will be 300,000 including those
assigned but exchanged for options at the beneficiaries' discretion.

Annual delivery date: the share-based bonus will be delivered to the beneficiaries within thirty
(30) calendar days following the date of the Annual General Meeting, at the date established by the
Board of Directors or its delegated bodies. For beneficiaries who are Company directors delivery of
the corresponding shares (and, if applicable, options) will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in accordance with that provided in article 219 of the
Consolidated Spanish Public Limited Liability Companies Law.

Rights on shares: the shares will entitle the beneficiary to the dividend and voting rights
corresponding thereto as from the date of delivery.

Restricted use of the shares: the beneficiaries cannot dispose of, encumber or grant any option
on the shares prior to 31 March of the third year following the year in which the corresponding shares
were delivered to the beneficiary as payment of the bonus in the form of shares.

Grant of a purchase option to the Company: the beneficiary grants the Company a purchase
option on the shares delivered to him until 31 March of the third year following the year of delivery, at
a price of EUR 0.01 per share. This option can only be exercised by the Company if the employment,
civil or independent contractor relationship is interrupted or extinguished under certain conditions.

Option regime: each option will entitle the beneficiary to receive one of the Company's
ordinary shares in exchange for payment of the share price established for the exercise of the option or
in exchange for payment of the price arising from monetary settlement due to differences between the
option value and the share value at the date the option is exercised. If the employment, civil or
independent contractor relationship has not been interrupted or extinguished under certain conditions,
all or some of the options granted in a given year under the Plan can be exercised on one or several
occasions within a three-year period efapsing either on (a) 31 March of the third calendar year
following that in which they were assigned, or (b) 31 March of the third year subsequent to the
beginning of the exercise period.
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Under this Plan, 44,736 shares and 33,785 purchase option rights on Acciona, S.A. shares were
granted in 2012 to the Group’s senior executives, including the shares and options granted to the
executive directors which were described in Note 33-A, “Board of Directors”. The options granted
entitle the beneficiary to acquire the same number of shares at a price per share of EUR 66.73 and can
be exercised from 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2018.

The detail of the persons who held senior management positions in 2012 is as follows:

Name
Apuilera Carmona, Ignacio
Alcazar Viela, Jesis
Andueza, Fidel
Anlinez Cid, Isabel
Becernil Martinez, Carmen
Beltran Nuifiez, Rani
Blance Diéguez, José Luis
Cabaniltas Alonso, Pio
Callejo Martinez, Alfonso
Carrién Lépez de la Garma, Macarena
Castilla CAmara, Luis
Claudio Vazquez, Adalberto
Cmz Palacios, Juan Manuel
Ezpeleta Puras, Arantza
Farto Paz, José Maria
Gallardo Cruces, Juan
Grévalos Esteban, Antonio
Jozefiak, Marek
Lépez Ferndndez, Carlos
Martinez Martinez, Pedro
Mateo Alcala, Rafael
Miguel Ichaso, Alberto De
Molina Oltra, Ricardo Luis
Mollinedo Chocano, Joaquin
Muro-Lara Gired, Juan Antonio
Navas Gareia, Carlos
Park, Robert
Pérez-Villaamil Moreno, Javier
Popiolek , Joraslaw
Rivas Ancro, Félix
Ruiz Osta, Pedro Santiago
Sanlamaria-Paredes Castillo, Vicente
Sarridn Martinez, Dolores

Silva Ferrada, Juan Ramén

Position
General Manager - Acciona Trasmediterrinea Area
General Manager — Acciona Latin America Infrastructure Area
General Manager - International Area
General Manager — Acciona Real Estate Area
Chairwoman - Acciona Energy
Director of Internal Audit
General Manager - Acciona Windpower
General Manager of Corporate Image and Global Marketing
General Manager — Corporate Resources
General Manager ~ Chairman’s Office Area

Chairman - Acciona Water

General Manager — Acctona International Infrastructures and Concessions Area

General Manager — Human Resources Administration Area
General Manager - International Business Development Area
General Manager - Acciona Infrastructure Area 3

General Manager - Economy and Finance

General Manager - Acciona Trasmediterrinea Area

General Manager — Poland Area, Chairman - Mostostal Warszawa
General Manager —~ Acciona Enginecring and Facilities Area
Chairman - Acciona Infrastruclure

Generat Mapager - Acciona Energy

General Manager — Acciona Energy Strategy and New Businesses
General Manager - Acciona Service Area

General Manager - Institutional Relations

General Manager - Corporate Development and Investor Relations
General Manager - Acciona Airport Services Arza

General Manager — Canada Area

General Manager - Acciona Infrastructure Arca }

General Manager — Poland Area

General Manager - Purchases, Innovation, Environment and Quality Area
General Manager - Acciona Windpower

General Manager — Legal Services Area

Assistant General Manager — Corporate Resources Area

General Manager — Sustainabilitv Area
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Terceiro Mateos, José Manuel
Tejero Santos, José .f\.ngel
Vega-Penichet Lopez, Jorge

Vicente Pelegrini, Jusio

General Manager — Acciona Infrastructure Economic and Finance Area
General Manager - Finance and Risks Area
General Secretary

General Manager - Acciona Infrastructure Area 2

The detail of the persons who held senior management positions in 2011 is as follows:

Name
Jestis Alcazar Viela

Isabel Antinez Cid

Camen Becerril Martinez

Raill Beltrdn Nifiez

Pio Cabanillas Alonso

Alfonso Callejo Martinez

Macarena Carrion Lopez de la Garma
Luis Castilla Cdmara

Adalberto Claudio Vizquez

Juan Manuel Cruz Palactos
Arantza Ezpeleta Puras

José Marfa Farto Paz

Juan Gallardo Cruces

Albert Francis Gelardin
Joaquin Eduardo Gomez Diaz
Antonio Grivalos Esteban
Carlos Lopez Fermandez
Pedro Martinez Martinez
Rafael Mateo Alcald

Alberto de Miguel Ichaso
Ricardo Luis Molina Oftra
Joagquin Mollinedo Chocano
Juan Antonio Muro-Lara Girod
Carlos Navas Garcia

Robert Park

Javier Pérez-Villamil Moreno
Joraslaw Popiolek

Félix Rivas Anoro

Pedro Santiago Ruiz Osta
Juan Andrés Sdez Elegido
Vicente Santamaria de Paredes Castillo
Dolores Sarrion Martinez
Juan Ramén Silva Fetrada
José Angel Tejero Santos

José Manuel Terceiro Mateos

Position
General Manager ~ Acciona Latin America Infrastructure Area

General Manager — Acciona Real Estate Area

Chairwoman - Acciona Energy

Internal Audit Manager - Acciona

General Manager of Corporate Image and Global Markeiing
General Manager — Corporate Resources

General Manager ~ Chairman’s Office Area

Chairman - Acciona Water

General Manager — Acciona Infernational Construction Infrastructures and

Concessions Area
General Manager — Human Resources Administration Area

General Manager - International Development Area

General Manager - Acciona Infrastructure Area 3

General Manager - Economy and Finance

General Manager - International Area

General Manager — Acciona Infrastructure Studies and Contracls Area
General Manager - Acciona Trasmediterrinea Area

General Manager — Acctona Engineering and Facilities Area
Chairman - Acciona Infrastructure

General Manager - Acciona Energy

General Manager — Acciona Energy Strategy and New Businesses
General Manager — Other Businesses Area

General Manager - Institutional Relations

General Manager - Corporate Development and Investor Relations
General Manager - Acciona Airport Services Area

General Manager — Canada Area

General Manager - Aceiona Infrastructure Area 1

General Manager — Poland Area

General Manager of Innovation, Quality and Purchases Area
General Manager - Acciona Windpower

General Manager - Communications

General Manager — Legal Services Area

Assistant General Manager — Corporate Resources Area

General Manager — Suslainability Area

General Manager - Finance and Risks Area

General Manager — Acciona Infrastruchire Eeonomic and Finance Area
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Group
company

Parque Edlico La Esperanza, S.L.
Parque Edlico Peralejo, S.A
Parque Eélico Topacios, S.A
Parque Eélico Tortosa, S.L.

Parque Eélico Villamayor, S.L.

Parque Reforma Santa Fe, 8.A. de C.V.
Pargues Eélicos Celadas, S.1..
Pargues Edlicos de Ciudad Real, 8.1

Parques Edlicos de Extremadura

Parques Eélicos del Cerrato, S.L.
Pat Cargo, S. A,

Pia.Cos S.RL.

Pitagoras, Srl.

Press Cargo Colombia, S.A.

Pridesa America Corporation

Punta Palmeras, 8. A

Pyrenees Wind Energy Developments Py, Ltd
Pyrenees Wind Energy Holdings Pty. Lid
Ravi Urja Energy India Pvt Lid

Red Hills Finance, Lle

Red Hills Holding, Lic

Rendos, §.A

Riacho Novo Empreendimentos Inmobiliarios,
Ltda.

Rio Paraiba do Sul Servigos, Lida

Rodovia Do Ago, S A

Route & Press, S.1..

Rusticas Vegas Altas, S.L.

Soe. Coneesionaria A2 Tramo 2, S.A.

S.C. Acciona Concesiones Ruta 160

S.C. Dlp, S. A

S.C. Hospital del Nortc, S.A.

Saltos de! Nansa, S.A. (Sole-Shareholder
Company)

Saltos y Centrales de Catalunya, S.A.

Auditor
(A)
(A)

(a)
(e

(A)
()
{(a)

(A)
(E)

©
©

©)

{A)

B)

&Y

{a)

(A}

Location
Madrid
Toledo
Madrid

Barcelona

Madrid

Mexico
Madrid
Cindad Real

Badajoz
Madrid

Chile

Haly
Italy

Colombia
USA
Chile

Australia

Australia
India

UsA
USA
Madrid

Brazit

Brazil

Brazil
Madrid

Badajoz
Guadalajara

Chile

Madrid
Madnd

Santander

Barcelona

Main business line
Energy
Energy
Energy
Energy
Energy

Real estate
Energy
Energy

Energy
Energy

Logisiics services

Water treatment

Energy
Logistics services
Water treatment
Energy
Energy
Energy
Energy

Energy
Energy

Firtance
Real estate
Concession operation
Concession operation
Logistics services

Energy

Concession operation

Concession operation

Construction

Hospitals
Energy

Energy
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% of
ownership
{(nominal)

98.00%
98.00%
100.00%
98.00%
98.00%

70.00%
98.00%
98.00%

100.00%
98.00%

57.50%

100.00%
100.00%

47.95%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%

60.00%
95.00%

100.00%

100.00%

Shareholder
Ceolica Subgroup
Cedblica Subgroup

Alabe Subgroup
Cedblica Subgroup

Cedlica Subgroup
Parque Reforma
Subgroup
Cedlica Subgroup

Ceélica Subgroup

Acciona Energia
Subgroup

Cedlica Subgroup
Acciona Forwarding
Subgroup
Acciona Agua
Subgroup
Cesa Ralia Subgroup
Acciona Forwarding
Peru Subgroup
Acciona Apua
Subgroup
Acciona Energia
Internacional Subgroup
Pyrenees Wind
Energy Subgroup
Acciona Energy
Oceania Subgroup
Acciona Energia
Internacional Snbgroup

Acciona Energia
Internacional Subgroup

Tatanka Subgroup

Acciona
Acciona Inmobiliaria
Subgroup
Acciona Do Brasil
Subgroup
Acciona Infraesiructuras
Subgroup
Acciona Logistica
Subgroup

Acciona Energia
Subgroup

Acciona
Acciona
Infraestructuras Chile
Subproup
Acciona Infraestructuras
Subgroup

Acciona

Acciona Saltos de Agua
Subgroup
Acciona Saltos de Agua
Suberoup

Carrying
amonnt

1,056
1,020
291
2,394
2,912

9,404
1,599

7,844

2,944
1,375

588

10
8,780

14

19
14,624

9.774

37,287
339

7,000
5,961

38,952

558
8,973

104,226

42,016

























































Revenue
Consolidated revenue increased by 5.6% to EUR 7,016 million, due mainly to:

® The positive performance of the revenue of ACCIONA Energy (127.7%), resulting from the
increase in the wind-power load factor in Spain and abroad and the contribution in the period
of 224 MW installed during the last twelve months.

The increase in the revenue of the Water and Environment division (+16.9%), driven by the
sound performance of the Water and Facility Services business.

The decrease in the revenue of the Infrastructure division (-5.6%) due to the falloff of the
construction business in Spain.

The reduction in the revenue of the Real Estate division (-35.0%), basically as a result of the
lower development business and property asset sales in 2011.

EBITDA
EBITDA at December 2012 stood at EUR 1,431 million, an increase of 9.0%, due largely to the sound
performance of the Energy division (+17.8%), which contributed close to 78.5% of the Group’s
EBITDA.
The EBITDA margin increased by 70 basis points, rising from 19.7% in 2011 to 20.4% in 2012.
Net Profit from Operations (EBIT)
EBIT increased by 2.3% to stand at EUR 646 million, having taken into account provisions of EUR 25
million mainly in relating to property assets and impairment losses on assets amounting to EUR 56
million. This impairment relates mainly to:

* The write-down of the costs in energy development projects in the US that will no longer be

executed (EUR 18 million)

» Recognition of impairment losses on certain US wind farms (EUR 31 million)

Profit before Tax from Continuing Operations (EBT)

EBT amounted to EUR 246 million, representing year-on-year growth of 9.7%.

Finance income includes most notably EUR 19 million as a result of the early repayment of
borrowings at the Real Estate division.
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Acciona Energy

(Millions of euros)

Generation
Industrial, development and other
Revenue
Generation
Industriai, development and other
EBITDA

Margin (%)
EBT

Margin (%6)

Jan-Dec 11

1,522

128

1,650

1,059

(103)

956

57.9%

101

6.1%

Jan-Dec 12

1,857

250

2,107

1217

(92)

1,128

53.4%

166

7.9%

Change (%)
22.0%
95.7%
27.7%
15.0%
(11.1%%)
17.8%

64.6%

ACCIONA Energy’s revenue increased by 27.7% in 2012 to EUR 2,107 million.

Of particular note was the performance of generation revenue, which increased by 22.0% as a resuit of
the increase in total installed capacity in the last twelve months (3.0%) and the higher wind-power
load factor both in Spain and abroad, which offset the adverse effects of the lower rainfall and the drop

in the pool price compared with the average price in 2011 (-6.8%).

EBITDA at the Energy division increased by 17.8% to stand at EUR 1,125 million in 2012. The fall in
the EBITDA margin to 53.4% was due mainly to the lower generation margin arising from;

~ Increase in energy retailing, a business with lower margins.
~ Lower rainfall in 2012 compared with 2011,

The division's EBT stood at EUR 166 million, 64.6% up on 2011.

In 2012 ACCIONA Energy installed 224 MW: 174 MW wind power (74 MW in Spain, 64 MW in
Italy, 30 MW in Croatia and 6 MW in the US) in addition to 50 MW of thermal solar power in Spain.

(Installed MW)
Wind power in Spain
Wind power abroad
s

Mevieo
Mstratia

Canada

Crermany

Haly
Portugal

Tncia

31-Dec-12
Attributable

4,713

2,383

627
536
305
181
150
156
120

RS

(GWh produced)

4,043 Wind power in Spain
2,1RS Wind power abroad

552 Us

557 Mexice

272 Auslratia

103 Canada

150 Germany

156 Ttaly

120 Portugal
86 India
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31-Dec-12
Total Attributahle

10,344 8,752
7,032 6,413
1,959 1,686
2,180 2,180
984 896
538 307
269 269
188 188
278 278
ane ™8












No. of passengers

Cargo handled (hinear metres)

Vehicles

Jan-Dec 11
2,643,497
5,361,484

521,193

Acciona Urban and Environmental Services

Waler
Other
Revenue
Water
Other

EBITDA

Margin (%6)

EBT

Margin (%)

(Millions of euros)

Jan-Dec 11

413
285
697

42
13
55
7.8%
18
2.5%

Jan-Dec 12
2,496,489
5,083,858

594,502

Jan-Dec 12

506

309

815

43

11

54

6.6%

26

3.2%

Change (%)
(5.6)
(5.2)
@3

Change (%)

22.7%
8.6%
16.9%
2.7%
(15.4%)

(1.8%)

49.1%

The Water business performed well in 2012, posting increased sales of 22.7% and achieving EBITDA
of EUR 43 million.

The division's other businesses were affected by shrinking margins.

The Water services portfolio at December 2012 amounted to EUR 11,326 million, up 137% on that of
December 2011 due to the addition of the O&M agreement with ATLL.

Other Businesses

Revenue

EBITDA

Margin (%)

EBT

Margin (%)

(Millions of euros)

Jan-Dec 11
135

Jan-Deec 12
140
54
38.7%
55

39.6%

Change (%o}

3.2%
{1.8%)

(5.2%)

The fund manager Bestinver achieved a total of EUR 5,916 million managed funds at 31 December
2012, compared with EUR 5,241 million at December 2011 (+13%).

Despite the instability of the markets in recent months, Bestinver has boosted the division's revenue,
which increased by 3.2%.
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operation of the facilities that constitute the Ter-Llobregat supply network, including
the treatment, storage and delivery of water.

~ The fee envisaged in the administrative contract is EUR 995,506,100, equal to the
carrying amount of the assets assigned for use, less the grants and economic aid from
other public authorities, which will be paid as follows: (i) EUR 298,651,830 as a first
payment when the contract is signed; and (ii) the remainder in 50 annual instalments,
the present value of which amounts to EUR 696,854,270.

The following significant event communications have been published since the end of the reporting
period:

* 10 January 2013: interim dividend

- On 10 January 2013, the Board of Directors of ACCIONA declared an interim dividend
of EUR 0.90 per share out of the 2012 profit to be approved at the next Annual General
Meeting. The interim dividend payable in this connection totalled EUR 51,533,595.
The interim dividend was paid on 21 January 2013.

* 17 January 2013: Euro Commercial Paper Programme

- ACCIONA formally executed a Euro Commercial Paper programme (ECP) for a
maximum of EUR 500 million, which was registered on the Irish Stock Exchange.

Dividend

At the Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 2012, the shareholders of ACCIONA, S.A. approved
the distribution of a final dividend of EUR 1.974 per share out of the profit for 2011.

This dividend, together with the interim dividend of EUR 1.026 per share paid by the Parent in
January 2012, takes the total dividend paid out of 2011 profit to EUR 3.00 per share. The total
dividend paid out of 2011 profit was EUR 191 million.

Stock Market Data

Price at 31 December 2012 (EUR/share) 56.21
Price at 1 Janwary 2012 (EUR/share) 66.73
Low in FY'12 (24/07/12) 3047
High in FY 2 (02/01/12) 68.14
Average daily trading volume (no. of shares) 231,190
Average daily trading volume (euros) 11,293,648
Number of shares 57,259,550
Market capitalisation at 31 December 2012 (millions of euros) 3,219
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Credit risk is mitigated by negotiating transactions with solvent third parties, using criteria generally
accepted by the market (ratings, history of commercial relations with the counterparty in question,
etc.). Also, depending on the type of transaction or type of counterparty, ACCIONA negotiates the
obtainment of sufficient guarantees to mitigate the risk of financial losses in the event of default.

These risks are adequately managed by seeking natural hedges between income and expenses and
assets and liabilities, When this is not possible, hedging transactions are carried out and derivatives are
arranged with the aim of avoiding high earnings volatility. However, these transactions do not
guarantee fully effective hedging in terms of the total elimination of exposure to changes in interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates, and such changes could adversely affect the Group’s
financial position and results.

Also, a system of hedging exposure to material risks is established in the form of complementary
insurance policies that reduce the possibility of situations, in which general risks arise, jeopardising
the Group's financial solvency.

Strategic Risks

The consequences of strategic risks are that the Company's objectives are not met and its growth is
reduced. These risks include organisational changes, investments and divestments, threats posed by
competitors, economic, political and regulatory changes, the effect of new technologies and research
and development.

ACCIONA minimises risks of this nature through its own strategy and business model; through the
industry and geographical diversification of its business; through the performance of exhaustive
studies of the market, competitors and the countries in which it carries on its business activities; and
through a firm commitment to research and development.

As regards regulatory and legislative changes, the Group establishes certain investment criteria in
countries that provide reasonable assurance in relation to the achievement of the strategic business
objectives.

Before a decision is made to invest in or sell a business, there is a preventative control and an
assessment of the associated risks based on the projected economic information of the business; this
information must be approved by the Investment Committee on the basis of certain business volume
and profitability parameters based on the associated risk.

Operational Risks
These are risks associated with processes, persons and products. They are related to legislative, legal,

regulatory and contractual compliance, control systems and procedures, the supply chain, auxiliary
services, information systems, employee productivity and the loss of key personnel.
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The Ethical Principles for suppliers, contractors and external partners and the ethical channel were
also disseminated among more than 12,000 of ACCIONA's suppliers and contractors. A supplier audit
plan has been initiated which, based on the verification of sustainability questionnaires, has led to
suppliers being assigned a corporate responsibility rating and a risk map was drawn up covering the
supply chain.

In an exercise of transparency that responds to the expectations of the Company's stakeholders, at the
Annual General Meeting of 24 May 2012, the 2011 Sustainability Report was presented for approval
by the shareholders for the first time ever (99.95% votes in favour).

Materiality Study in Aspects of Sustainability

In order to remain abreast of new market trends and challenges in matters of sustainability, and to
gain a deeper insight of the aspects of sustainability that are relevant to the business, ACCIONA
performs a matenality study.

The most recent study, prepared at the beginning of 2012, is based on an analysis of various key
sustainability information sources: stock market indexes constructed around sustainability criteria,
proposals for resolutions of an environmental, ethical and social nature submitted at the Annual
General Meetings of leading companies, latest trends in integrating sustainability in the business
models launched by international organisations, specific requirements in the public procurement
tender specifications worldwide and, lastly, the impacts in the press of key questions in these matters.

The matters identified were categorised on the basis of the commitments defined in the 2015
Sustainability Master Plan for their review and ongoing updating. In addition, a specific analysis was
performed of the relevant matters in relation to sustainability for the Company's main lines of
business: Infrastructure, Energy and Water.

Based on this information, the Company identifies elements that define the material aspects through a
relevance-maturity evaluation and defines the materiality of priority sustainability issues.

Certain of the most relevant matters identified in the materiality analysis, by areas in the
Sustainability Master Plan, are related to issues such as the following:

-~ Preparation and publication of an innovation route map.

- Global scope of the environmental management policies and systems, as well as the definition
of short-, medium- and long-term objectives.

- Alignment of social action with the Company's growth strategies.

- Promotion of equality and diversity, structured around a formal policy that furthers, in
particular, the employability of groups at risk from social exclusion.
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» the development of a specific instrument for environmental offsetting; and

* the promotion of a sustainable mobility plan centred on business trips, employee journeys and
the logistics chain.

ACCIONA's environmental strategy inherently includes an integral treatment of the impacts produced,
based on the premise of prevention of the occurrence thereof, and correction of those that have
unavoidably arisen and, where necessary, offsetting the related residual effects.

To this end in 2012 endeavours were made to give a notable fillip to the mechanism for environmental
offsetting, through the implementation of initiatives that go beyond the administrative environmental
requirements relating to the offsetting of impacts generated by the normal activities of the business.
These initiatives are enabling the Company to position itself differentially and recognise its effective
commitment to the environment. In 2012 actions were taken to offset CO, emissions through carbon
neutral events at the Company itself and at customers, and a specific offset and biodiversity
improvement programme was implemented.

2012 also saw continuing progress made in the implementation and certification of quality and
environmental management systems across all ACCIONA's divisions. These systems, which comply
with the ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 international standards, respectively, enable ACCIONA to conduct
management by processes, considering all the environmental aspects related to our activity throughout
all phases of its development, with a focus based on continuous improvement.

Energy management systems were also implemented (certified under the ISO 50001 international
standard) in all the O&M and service management areas of ACCIONA Water and at the R&D
Technological Centre, identifying significant opportunities for energy saving,

All these management systems constitute a tool to control operating and environmental risks.

ACCIONA's environmental risk management in 2012 was particularly focused on the preliminary
identification in the Company's activities of the risks associated with climate change, and the drawing
up of the map of the risks in the supply chain arising from the main suppliers (commercial relationship
exceeding EUR 100,000/year), in relation to which the environmental risk of the activity that they
carry on for ACCIONA has been assessed.

Lastly, of particular note in 2012 were the initiatives to delve deeper into the analysis of what is
known as Plan 10+, designed in 2011. The objective of the Plan is to identify, analyse and seek out

solutions to the ten principal environmental problems, as a basic tool for managing them,

2012 environmental aggregates:
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In Europe the tensions in the financial markets have been reduced considerably thanks to the response
of the ECB and other institutions, as well as the structural reforms that various governments are
undertaking. The markets appear to rule out extreme scenarios such as the breakup of the euro, which
has resulted in a significant narrowing of risk spreads in peripheral economies and improving liquidity
in the interbank market. Also evident is a greater appetite for risk in the equity markets.

In the US the agreement to avoid the so-called fiscal cliff makes it possible to rule out a scenario of
deep cuts in public spending and tax increases that could push the US economy into a new recession,
with negative consequences for global growth that this would bring with it.

The increase in economic activity in the emerging economies also contributed to improved
expectations.

Therefore, global growth in 2013 is expected to be slightly higher than the levels seen in 2012, with an
overall growth rate of 3.5% according to IMF estimates.

The recovery will be gradual, as the factors underlying the weak global economy abate and the
appropriate responses by governments and institutions continue to be made.

Further work is required in the efforts towards fiscal consolidation and reform of the financial system
that are being made by the most developed economies, strengthening the foundations of recovery.

To avoid jeopardising this recovery, in the US constructive dialogue is required that avoids excessive
fiscal consolidation at long term and gives rise to a reasonable path towards restoring balance in the
accounts in the medium term.

In the absence of the materialisation of the risks that the fiscal cliff would have brought with it, the US
is expected to grow by around 2% in 2013 due to the recovery of the housing market and the financial
markets which, together with the improvement in the labour market, should strengthen domestic
consumption and business demand. This growth is still below the levels experienced at this point in
the cycle in previous periods and is not without political risk, although a lasting fiscal reform could
accelerate growth in the second half of the year.

In the eurozone stability risks remain, and it is therefore vital to continue with the structural reforms
and deleveraging in the peripheral countries, coupled with the support of the central economies to
growth and greater banking and fiscal integration. All of this would help to definitively clear up any
doubts as to the viability of the euro.

[t is estimated that the eurozone will continue with slightly negative growth rates despite the greater
stability of the financial markets which is taking its time to be transiated into better credit conditions
for the private sector. The recovery in external demand, the need to undertake less drastic fiscal
consolidation efforts, the greater flow of credit and structural reforms make it possible to be more
optimistic about the second half of the year.

-Pag. 177 -






The so-called currency war could be another risk factor, although the G-20 has shown its commitment
to ensuring that no dysfunctions persist in exchange rates and to refraining from implementing
competitive devaluations and resisting protectionism.

Annual Corporate Governance Report

The full text of the Annual Corporate Governance Report is available on the CNMYV website
(www.cnm.es) and on the Company's website (www.acciona.es).

Also, the Annual Corporate Governance Report will be reported as a Significant Event
Communication to the CNMV,
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Mr. José Angel Sisqués Artigas Don José Angel Sisqués Artigas

certifies that the foregoing text is a true certifica que la que antecede es traduccion
and complete translation into English of fiel y compieta al inglés de un documento
an original document written in Spanish. redactado en espanol.

In Madrid, April 29" 2013. En Madrid, a dia 29 de abril de 2013.





